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Objective of the Company

The investment objective of the Company is to achieve long-term capital growth from a managed 
international portfolio of securities. The preservation of capital is of primary importance to the investment 
objective.

The Company aims to achieve absolute returns and is not managed by reference to any equity or bond index 
or benchmark.

Investment Policy

•	 	To	invest	primarily	in	equities	issued	by	companies	listed	on	regulated	markets.	With	the	prior	approval	
of the Board, the Company may invest in unlisted securities. 

•	 	Up	to	30%	of	net	assets	may	be	invested	in	investment	products	managed	by	the	Company’s	Investment	
Manager. The Company may also hold positions in investment products managed by third parties.

•	 	Up	to	a	maximum	of	15%	of	net	assets	(at	cost	at	the	date	of	investment)	may	be	invested	in	any	one	
security.

•	 The	Company	may	borrow	up	to	a	maximum	of	50%	of	net	assets.	

Financial Highlights for the Year

Performance comparisons 31 March 2015 – 31 March 2016

31 March
2015

31 March 
2016 Change

Share price 178.0p 154.0p -13.5%
Net asset value per share 229.6p 214.0p -6.8%
Dividends per share 4.9p 5.1p +4.1%
Special dividend per share – 3.9p n/a
FTSE	WMA	Stock	Market	Balanced	Index* -0.5%
MSCI	UK	Equity* -5.9%
MSCI	AC	World	Equity* -1.4%
MSCI	Japan	Equity* -4.2%
MSCI	AC	Asia	ex	Japan	Equity* -9.1%

*	Total	return	in	sterling
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Performance

Share Price performance relative to the Net Asset Value  
and FTSE WMA Stock Market Balanced Index 

since inception 18 March 2002 to 31 March 2016 (total return)
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Net dividends reinvested, all data in sterling

Data in Sterling, FTSE Index, Net Dividends
Share price and net asset value total returns above include dividends paid

Cumulative Performance to 31 March 2016
1 year 

%
3 year 

%
5 year 

%
10 year 

%

Share Price Total Return(a) -10.9 -19.4 -5.5 +22.4
Net Asset Value Total Return(a) -4.5 -11.7 +13.9 +63.7
FTSE	WMA	Stock	Market	Balanced		
 Index Total Return(b) -0.5 +17.6 +38.1 +67.0

(a) Source: AIC Information Services Limited 
(b) Source: Bloomberg
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Chairman’s Statement

The Company has had another difficult year amidst highly volatile market conditions. Measured by total 
return, the	Net	Asset	Value	(NAV)	fell	by	4.5%	while	the	share	price	declined	by	10.9% for the financial year 
to 31st March 2016 with dividends of 4.9p per share paid during the year.

Markets were dominated by uncertainties in both developed and emerging markets and a sharp slowdown in 
the Chinese economy. The Investment Manager’s Report makes a full commentary on the impact of Chinese 
overcapacity on commodity markets, global trade and deflation. As Henry Thornton observes, China’s credit 
excesses are “chickens coming home to roost”. Continued quantitative easing by the European Central 
Bank and the Bank of Japan is designed to head off these deflationary threats. No less than five central 
banks have embraced negative interest rate policies while many sovereign bond yields have entered into 
negative territory. Despite the unprecedented level of interest rates and monetary accommodation global 
growth	remains	elusive.	Softer	economic	data	from	the	United	States	has	cast	doubt	over	the	likelihood	
of the Federal Reserve increasing interest rates further, even though they would perhaps like to do so. 
Indeed, the first move by the Federal Reserve to increase rates, in December 2015, caused shock in world 
markets.	Any	attempt	to	raise	US	rates	again,	without	regard	to	the	realities	of	the	world	economy	may	
result	in	renewed	US dollar strength. This, in turn, will create renewed stress in emerging markets, given 
the	extent	of	international	US dollar financing. These extraordinary economic and monetary conditions are 
unprecedented and make it challenging for investors to navigate concomitant volatility and the valuation 
of assets with any confidence. Stability in equity prices appears in many cases to be determined by the 
level	of	dividend	income	and	supportive	cash	flow.	We	are	also	in	an	exciting	era	of	rapid	technological	
development spawned and accelerated by the digital age, which is potentially massively disruptive for many 
traditional industries and business models.

Furthermore, certain countries in Asia face specific challenges. The Investment Manager’s report notes 
that those with good demographics and robust domestic demand profiles continue to grow strongly. 
Asia remains an excellent long term investment proposition, while valuations, as measured by price to 
book, seem reasonable being one standard deviation below the long term average even though corporate 
earnings expectations remain subdued.

The Board retains confidence in the Investment Manager and proposes to shareholders that they vote in 
favour of continuation of the Company at the forthcoming AGM. I would like to remind shareholders that 
the	compound	annual	growth	rate	since	listing	in	2002,	as	measured	by	total	return,	is	7.4%	per	annum.	
Nevertheless, the Board is concerned by the persistent wide discount and lack of liquidity in the Company’s 
shares.  This may reflect negative investor sentiment toward Asia and emerging markets as well as recent 
indifferent returns. The Board has no powers to buy back stock nor is a tender offer viable. Consequently, 
the Board proposes a final dividend of 3.2p lifting the total dividend to 5.1p for the financial year, a 4.1% 
increase over the previous year and consistent with our progressive dividend policy. In addition, the Board 
proposes a special dividend of 3.9p, which will be paid from capital reserves. This will lift the total cash 
distribution to shareholders to 9.0p for the financial year, – a yield of 5.8%	on	the	share	price	at	year	end. 
While	no specific commitment can be made to repeat such special distributions, shareholders should note 
that the special dividend has been set at a level that the Board believes could be repeated while still allowing 
the Company to grow over time.

Harry Wells
Chairman
9 June 2016
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Board Members

Harry Wells	a),	b),	c)	Chairman,	has	over	40	years’	experience	within	the	 investment	 industry	primarily	
as	a	stockbroker	specialising	in	Asia,	based	in	London	and	Hong	Kong,	latterly	as	a	Managing	Director	of	
Salomon Smith Barney. He is also Chairman of CC Japan Income & Growth Trust Plc and Martin Currie Asia 
Unconstrained	Trust	plc.	He	holds	an	MA	from	Cambridge	University,	is	a	Fellow	of	the	Chartered	Institute	
for Securities & Investment and a Member of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors.

Jim Ryall	a)	b)	c)	has	30	years	of	experience	in	investment	banking,	private	equity	and	broking.	For	the	last	
ten years he has been a partner at EFP Capital specializing in both structuring and international fund raising 
for institutional and private clients. Prior to this he was the CEO of Hamilton Lane in London responsible 
for	fund	raising	and	the	group’s	non-US	client	base.	The	majority	of	his	investment	banking	experience	was	
with	Flemings	in	London,	and	Jardine	Fleming	in	Hong	Kong	and	Malaysia,	where	he	was	country	head	with	
global responsibility for the Malaysian and Singapore equity markets. He was a commissioned officer in the 
Royal	Marines	and	holds	a	BA	from	the	University	of	Warwick.

Gregory Shenkman	a),	b),	c)	Audit	Committee	Chairman	and	Senior	Independent	Director,	has	40	years’	
experience in investment banking including corporate finance, advisory, debt and equity capital markets and 
equity brokerage business, latterly as a managing director and global partner at the Rothschild Investment 
Banking Group. He was the regional head of Rothschild’s Asian businesses from 2000 to 2004. He is a 
Director	of	Martin	Currie	Asia	Unconstrained	Trust	plc.	He	holds	an	MA	from	Cambridge	University.

Susan Thornton has 40 years’ experience within the investment industry and has previously held senior 
positions at a number of financial institutions including GT Management and Robert Fleming. Prior to 
her retirement, Susan was a Director of Fleming International Investment Management Limited with 
responsibility for global clients’ European investments. She is currently a Trustee of a number of charities.

Tom Waring is the Chief Executive Officer of Blackfriars Asset Management Limited. Tom was formerly 
Group	 Head	 of	 Investments	 and	 Senior	 Executive	 Director	 of	 Bahrain	 based	 Gulf	 Finance	 House	 (GFH),	
a major listed Islamic investment bank, with responsibility for GFH’s asset management, venture capital 
and private equity business. He has over 29 years’ investment management industry experience and was 
previously based in London as CEO of First State Investments International Limited, the international 
subsidiary of Commonwealth Bank of Australia. He was also formerly CEO of First State Investment in Asia, 
Partner and International CEO of Nicholas Applegate Capital Management, Group Managing Director of 
Credit Lyonnais International Asset Management and Managing Director of Royal Trust Asset Management 
(Asia)	Limited.	He	holds	a	BA	from	the	University	of	Warwick.

a)	Independent;	b)	Audit	Committee	member;	c)	Management	Engagement	Committee	member



Job No: 26282 Proof Event: 7 Black Line Level: 3 Park Communications Ltd Alpine Way London E6 6LA

Customer: Cavendish Project Title: Establishment Investment Trust Annual Report 2016 T: 0207 055 6500 F: 020 7055 6600

The Establishment Investment Trust plc Annual Report 31 March 2016

Page 6

Portfolio Holdings at 31 March 2016

(All Equity Shares unless otherwise stated)

Holding Company
Fair value

£’000
% of net 

assets

% of net 
assets

(portfolio look 
through basis)

400,000 Blackfriars Oriental Focus Fund ‘B’* 5,833 13.6% –
400,000 Venture Corporation 1,725 4.0% 4.0%
564,800 Sands China 1,594 3.7% 4.3%
36,500 British American Tobacco 1,493 3.5% 3.5%

147,000 National Grid 1,451 3.4% 3.4%
402,500 ITC 1,387 3.2% 3.9%
92,000 GlaxoSmithKline 1,298 3.0% 3.0%

7,250,000 BTS Group 1,276 3.0% 3.6%
51,500 Shinhan Financial 1,265 3.0% 3.4%

310,000 Zee Entertainment 1,258 2.9% 3.6%
7,020,000 Land & Houses 1,242 2.9% 3.4%

760,000 Minth Group 1,224 2.9% 3.6%
31,000 Imperial Brands 1,198 2.8% 2.8%
1,490 Samsung Electronics 1,188 2.8% 3.7%

500,700 Samsonite International 1,164 2.7% 3.5%
29,500 AstraZeneca 1,151 2.7% 2.7%

180,000 Siam City Cement 1,096 2.6% 3.2%
33,500 Unilever 1,056 2.5% 2.5%

1,950,000 Ayala Land 1,032 2.4% 3.1%
295,000 Taiwan Semiconductor Manufacturing 1,022 2.4% 3.1%
215,000 BT Group 947 2.2% 2.2%
50,500 KT	Corporation 915 2.1% 2.7%

1,400,000 IJM Corporation 878 2.0% 2.7%
673,596 Uni-President	Enterprise 817 1.9% 2.5%
240,000 Hitachi 779 1.8% 1.8%
67,500 Ayala Corporation 761 1.8% 2.4%
27,000 Denso Corporation 753 1.8% 1.8%
35,000 Sony 625 1.5% 1.5%

1,180,000 Want	Want	China	Holdings 606 1.4% 1.8%

50,000
Housing Development Finance 
Corporation 580 1.4% 1.8%

560,000 Globetronics Technology 539 1.3% 1.6%
1,070,000 Sun Art Retail Group 525 1.2% 1.6%

24,000 Sumitomo Mitsui Financial Group 505 1.2% 1.2%
869,300 Religare Health Trust 439 1.0% 1.0%
20,000 Hermes Microvision 396 0.9% 1.2%

325,000 Cathay Pacific 390 0.9% 1.2%
126,000 Tsingtao Brewery Company 331 0.8% 1.1%
30,000 BTS	Group	Warrants 0 0.0% 0.0%

Total investments 40,739 95.2% 94.4%
Net current assets 2,052 4.8% 5.6%

 Net assets 42,791 100.0% 100.0%
* Blackfriars Asset Management Irish domiciled and listed fund.
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Analysis of Investment Portfolio at 31 March 2016

Sector analysis
Fair value

£’000
% of net

assets

% of net 
assets

(look through 
basis)

Consumer Staples 7,413 17.3% 19.7%
Consumer Discretionary 6,617 15.5% 18.3%
Investment Companies 5,833 13.6% 0.0%
Information Technology 5,648 13.2% 15.4%
Financials 5,386 12.6% 15.3%
Industrials 3,995 9.3% 10.9%
Health Care 2,889 6.7% 6.7%
Telecommunication Services 1,862 4.3% 4.9%
Materials 1,096 2.6% 3.2%
Total investments 40,739 95.2% 94.4%
Net current assets 2,052 4.8% 5.6%
Net assets 42,791 100.0% 100.0%

 
 
Geographical analysis (based on listing or domicile)

Fair value
£’000

% of net
assets

% of net 
assets

(look through 
basis)

United	Kingdom 8,594 20.1% 20.1%
Hong	Kong 5,834 13.6% 17.1%
Ireland * 5,833 13.6% 0.0%
India 3,664 8.6% 10.3%
Thailand 3,615 8.4% 10.2%
Korea 3,368 7.9% 9.8%
Japan 2,663 6.3% 6.3%
Taiwan 2,235 5.2% 6.8%
Philippines 1,792 4.2% 5.5%
Singapore 1,725 4.0% 4.0%
Malaysia 1,416 3.3% 4.3%
Total investments 40,739 95.2% 94.4%
Net current assets 2,052 4.8% 5.6%
Net assets 42,791 100.0% 100.0%

 
 
Classification of Assets

Fair value
£’000

% of net
assets

% of net 
assets

(look through 
basis)

Equities 40,739 95.2% 94.4%
Net current assets 2,052 4.8% 5.6%
Net assets 42,791 100.0% 100.0%

*  Blackfriars Asset Management Irish domiciled and listed fund. This represents the investment in Blackfriars Oriental Focus 
Fund	‘B’	which	is	invested	in	Asia	(ex	Japan)	equities.



Job No: 26282 Proof Event: 7 Black Line Level: 3 Park Communications Ltd Alpine Way London E6 6LA

Customer: Cavendish Project Title: Establishment Investment Trust Annual Report 2016 T: 0207 055 6500 F: 020 7055 6600

The Establishment Investment Trust plc Annual Report 31 March 2016

Page 8

Investment Manager’s Report

During the second half of the financial year,	the	share	price	advanced	by	2.4%	whilst	the	net	asset	value	
rose	6.2%.	An	interim	dividend	of	1.9p	was	paid	to	shareholders	during	the	period, increasing the total 
return on	the	share	price	and	the	net	asset	value	to	3.6%	and	7.2%	respectively.	This	compares	to	the	5.4%	
increase	in	the	FTSE	WMA	Stock	Market	Balanced	Portfolio	Index	in	sterling	terms.	

For the financial year as a whole,	the	share	price	declined	by	13.5%	whilst	the	net	asset	value	retreated	
6.8%.	Including	dividends	of	4.9p	paid	during	the	year, the total returns on the share price and net asset 
value were down 10.9%	and	4.5%	respectively.	For	comparative	purposes,	the	FTSE	WMA	Stock	Market	
Balanced	Index	declined	0.5%,	the	FTSE100	fell	5.3%,	the	MSCI	AC	World	Index	slipped	1.4%,	the	MSCI	
Japan	 Index	 lost	 4.2%	 and	 the	 MSCI	 AC	 Asia	 ex	 Japan	 Index	 declined	 9.1%.	 The	 discount	 stood	 at	 a	
disappointing	28.0%	at	year	end.

Longer term performance is shown graphically in the chart on page 3 that tracks the net asset value and 
share price against the FTSE APCIMS Private Client Balanced Portfolio Index since the formation of the 
Company.

Deflationary Pressures

The global economy remains in a difficult place. The rapid slowdown in the Chinese economy in the second 
half	of	2015	 saw	commodity	prices	 resume	 their	decline;	 The	Thomson	Reuters	CRB	Commodity	 Index	
fell by one quarter in the second half of 2015 and, despite the recent bounce, currently stands at roughly 
one	third	of	its	2008	peak.	The	shipping	industry	remains	in	freefall;	the	Baltic	Dry	Index	(first	published	in	
January	1985	at	1,000)	fell	to	290	in	February	2016	–	a	level	never	seen	before.	Although	the	index	has	
since doubled, daily charter rates remain miles below fully costed break-even levels. It is surprising perhaps 
that, in March this year,	three	Chinese	Ship	operators	(Cosco,	China	Merchants	and	ICBC	Financial	Leasing)	
placed	a	$2.5bn	order	for	30	Valemax	bulk	carriers.	With	a	capacity	of	360,000	tonnes,	a	Valemax	is	almost 
three times the size of a Capesize bulk carrier.

Quantitative easing in Japan and Europe has done little, if anything at all, to improve underlying domestic 
demand.	While	the	United	States	undoubtedly	remains	the	best	of	a	bad	bunch,	forecasts	of	further	rate	
rises	in	the	United	States	since	the	Federal	Reserve	lifted	short	term	rates	last	December	swing	from	month	
to month depending on data releases which continue to send mixed messages. For example while residential 
investment	grew	14.8%	quarter-on-quarter	at a seasonally adjusted annual rate in the first quarter of 2016, 
non-residential	investment	fell	by	5.9%	quarter-on-quarter	at a seasonally adjusted annual rate.

In	Asia	 it	 is	 useful	 to	observe	South	Korea,	 a	decent	 sized	and	 relatively	open	economy	 that	 competes	
with neighbours China and Japan in many industries such as the steel, shipbuilding, autos and electronics. 
Exports,	which	have	essentially	flat	lined	for	the	past	three	years,	fell	13.3%	year-on-year	in	the	first	quarter	
of	 2016.	 Domestic	 consumption	 fell	 0.3%	 quarter-on-quarter	 at a seasonally adjusted annual rate and 
capital	 expenditure	 plunged	 5.9%	 quarter-on-quarter	 seasonally	 adjusted.	 Growth	 forecasts	 for	 2016	
continue	to	be	downgraded;	the	Bank	of	Korea	expects	growth	to	be	2.8%.

This	Korean	“backdrop”	gives	an	interesting	read	through	to	China,	the	most	important	economy	in	Asia,	
and perhaps, at present, the world. The credit boom, and consequent over-investment post the global 
financial crisis, has been well documented and the chickens are coming home to roost, especially across the 
heavy industry and commodity sectors. While	reported	non-performing	loans	across	the	Chinese	banking	
industry	remain	implausibly	low,	the	direction	is	ominous.	Non-performing	loans	rose	51%	in	2015	while	
special	mention	loans	rose	37%.	Domestic	bond	defaults	are	on	the	rise	including	some	bonds	issued	by	
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State	Owned	Enterprises	(SOEs).	In	theory	these	SOEs	have	the	support	of	local	or	central	government, but 
in practice it appears that some SOEs are “more equal than others”. For a banking sector that traditionally 
defined	risk	in	a	binary	manner	(a	loan	to	an	SOE	was	risk	free,	a	loan	to	a	private	company	or	individual	
was	risky)	this	is	a	truly	terrifying	development!

The authorities have reacted to the slowdown in a predictable fashion. Fiscal policy has been eased with 
infrastructure	projects	fast	tracked	and	credit	growth	ramped	up.	Total	Social	Financing	rose	41.8%	in	the	
first	quarter	year-on-year	with	over	US$1trillion	of	new	credit	extended.	Unsurprisingly,	economic	activity	
has	picked	up	and	China	was	able	to	report	GDP	growth	of	6.7%	in	the	first	quarter	–	bang	in	line	with	the	
6.5-7.0%	forecast	announced	at	the	recent	National	People’s	Congress.

Your Manager is equally convinced that this stimulus is unsustainable and, having pressed the pedal hard, 
there are already signs that the authorities are reigning in credit growth. Total Social Financing in April 
fell	 68%	 month-on-month	 and	 29%	 year-on-year.	 Your	 Manager	 does	 not	 trust	 the	 recent	 bounce	 in	
commodity prices and believes deflationary pressures remain intense. Our exposure to China is limited to 
cash flow generative businesses operating almost exclusively in the consumer sector. The tertiary, or service, 
sector in China continues to grow reasonably consistently and there are good investment opportunities.

Elsewhere in Asia,	 the	 divide	 remains	 fairly	 simple.	 Industrialised	 North	 Asia	 (Japan,	 Korea	 and	 Taiwan)	
remains exposed to flaccid global trade volumes while deteriorating demographics remain a persistent 
drag on domestic demand. In stark contrast, less industrialised South Asia is enjoying positive demographic 
trends that are propelling strong growth in domestic demand. The Philippines remains the economic poster 
boy of the region while Indonesia and India also have excellent stories to tell. All three should post GDP 
growth	of	6-7%	in	2016	and	corporate	earnings	will	reflect	this.

Your Manager continues to favour consumer stocks in China and India and property and infrastructure 
companies across ASEAN and believes these investments will generate competitive returns over time.

The	United	Kingdom	portfolio,	accounting	for	circa	20%	of	assets,	has	generated	solid	returns	and	boosted	
the income generated by the company substantially.

Financial Results

The	 portfolio	 generated	 gross	 income	 of	 £1,400,000	 during	 the	 year,	 an	 increase	 of	 30%	 from	 the	
£1,080,000 generated in the preceding period. Excluding fees payable to the Investment Manager, expenses 
amounted to £269,000 compared to £272,000 in the previous year. The total fees payable to the Investment 
Manager	were	£280,000	compared	to	£295,000	in	the	previous	year	(of	which	80%	are	charged	to	capital).	
In consequence the Company recorded a revenue return on ordinary activities after tax of £994,000.

Blackfriars Asset Management Limited
Investment Manager
9 June 2016
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Other Information

Results and dividend

The revenue return for the financial year ended 31 March 2016 after taxation amounted to £994,000 
(2015:	£670,000).	The	Company	made	a	capital	loss	after	tax	for	the	financial	year	ended	31	March	2016	
of	£3,147,000	(2015:	capital	gain	of	£4,908,000).	Therefore	the	net loss after tax for the Company for the 
financial	year	ended	31	March	2016	was	£2,153,000	(2015:	profit	of	£5,578,000).

An interim dividend of 1.9p per Ordinary Share was paid on 21 December 2015 to Shareholders on the 
register at the close of business on 4 December 2015.

The Board proposes the following dividends in respect of the year ended 31 March 2016:

(i)		 A	final	dividend	of	3.2p	(2015:	3.00p)	per Ordinay Share. 

(ii)		 A	special	dividend	of	3.9p per Ordinary Share. 

The above dividends, subject to approval by Shareholders, will be paid on 1 August 2016 to Shareholders 
whose names appear on the register at the close of business on 8 July 2016.

Risks and uncertainties

The review of the year and commentary on the future outlook are presented in the Chairman’s Statement 
on page 4, the Investment Manager’s Report on page 8 and the financial instruments disclosures set out in 
note 16 to the Financial Statements on pages 49 to 52, which, together with the information below, provide 
details of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Company.

Investment risk

The Company is predominantly a vehicle for overseas equity investment with the attendant risks applicable 
to any international or regional equity portfolio relating to strategy, country, industrial sector and stock 
selection.

The prime risk of investing in the Company is a fall in equity prices and adverse movements in foreign 
currency	exchange	 rates	as	 currency	movements	 can	have	a	 significant	 impact	on	capital	 values.	Whilst	
foreign currency exposures against sterling are reviewed on a regular basis, these are inherent in investing 
in overseas securities and at present the Company has no currency hedging contracts in place nor plans to 
arrange them. The Investment Manager will take into account the possibility of currency gain or loss when 
evaluating investments for the Company.

Risk management

There are inherent risks involved in stock selection. The Manager is experienced and employs its expertise 
in selecting the stocks in which the Company invests. The Manager spreads the investment risk over a wide 
portfolio of investments.

Counterparty risk

The Company bears the risk of settlement default by clearing houses and exchanges and the risk of delayed 
repossession or disputed title of the Company’s assets in the event of failure of the Custodian, together with 
operational and regulatory risks, and the risk of errors and omissions.
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Risk management

The Investment Manager undertakes transactions only with brokers pre-approved by the Manager and on 
the basis of delivery against payment. 

Role of the Board

The Board monitors the critical risks and uncertainties faced by the Company through regular review of a 
matrix of risks, key controls and mitigating factors.

As part of the review of operational risks, the Board satisfies itself that the Investment Manager has processes 
in place to ensure that limits are not breached. Performance and risk controls are the focus of Boardroom 
discussion with the Investment Manager. The Board reviews the management of the portfolio and monitors 
the Manager’s adherence to the investment mandate. This is achieved by comparing the absolute return 
generated by the portfolio, the breakdown of the portfolio into equities, investment funds, bonds and cash 
and the level of concentration within the equity portfolio by sector and geography.

The Board seeks to assess and contain risk by understanding and monitoring the Investment Manager’s 
investment style, investment process and long-term performance record. Stock specific risk is reduced 
through adequate diversification and the Investment Manager is required to ask the Board for approval 
prior to the purchase of any other products managed by the Investment Manager which are anyway limited 
to	30%	of	the	portfolio.

The Board reviews the performance of certain equity indices to evaluate further whether the Investment 
Manager is generating competitive returns in differing market conditions. In assessing performance, the 
Board in its regular meetings looks for a clear, consistent expression of strategy.

As the Company’s objective is to achieve long-term capital growth whilst preserving capital, performance is not 
measured against any specific equity or bond index but on the absolute return achieved. The Company shows its 
performance	against	the	FTSE	WMA	Stock	Market	Balanced	Index	in	the	chart	on	page	3 of the Annual Report.

The Board also discusses the extent to which the Company might gear up its portfolio with debt or increase 
liquidity in difficult markets. Strategic decisions, such as the level of borrowing, can have a significant impact 
on	performance.	The	Company’s	policy	is	to	limit	gearing	to	a	maximum	of	50%	of	net	assets,	but	currently	
no	gearing	of	the	Company’s	portfolio	has	been	implemented.	Ultimately,	the	positioning	of	the	portfolio	
is decided by the Investment Manager, which operates within the investment guidelines established by the 
Board.

Viability statement

The three yearly vote for the continuation of the Company, required by the Company’s Articles of Association, 
will be put forward at the AGM to be held on 12 July 2016. After careful consideration, the Directors are 
recommending that shareholders vote in favour of the continuation resolution. The Directors have assessed 
the	viability	of	the	Company	for	the	three	years	up	until	the	AGM	due	to	be	held	in	July	2019	(the	“Period”).	
The Directors believe that the Period is an appropriate period over which to perform the assessment as it will 
be the time at which the continuation of the Company is next scheduled to be put forward to shareholders.

In their assessment of the prospects of the Company, the directors have considered the principal risks 
and uncertainties facing the Company. Portfolio changes, market developments and income and expense 
projections are discussed at quarterly Board meetings. The internal control framework of the Company is 
subject to a formal review on at least an annual basis. 
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Other Information continued

The Directors do not expect there to be any material increase in the annual ongoing charges of the Company 
over the Period. The Company’s income from investments and cash realisable from the sale of its investments 
provide substantial cover to the Company’s operating expenses.

Based on its assessment, the directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company will be able to 
continue in operation and meet its liabilities as they fall due over the Period.

Key performance indicators (“KPIs”)

The	Board	measures	the	success	of	the	Company	by	reference	to	the	following	KPIs:

1. Long term capital growth

The Company’s net asset value total return from inception on 18 March 2002 to 31 March 2016 was 
173.9%.	Further	details	on	The	Company’s	long	term	performance	are provided on page 3.

2. Progressive dividend policy

The Company’s total dividends (excluding	the	special	dividend)	for the year ended 31 March 2016 will be 
5.1p per Ordinary Share which represents an increase of 4.1%	against	the	previous	financial	year	and	the	
13th successive year of increase.

3. Control of expenses

The Board regularly monitors costs. The Company’s ongoing charges for the year ended 31 March 2016 
were	1.31%	of the Company’s average net assets (2015:1.30%).

Social, community and human rights issues

Having no employees, the Company, as an investment company, has no direct impact on social, community, 
environmental or human rights matters. 

Employees

The Company has no employees. The Company has one female and four male non-executive Directors.  
The Board’s policy on diversity is contained in the corporate governance report.

Strategic Report

The Strategic Report set out on pages 2 to 12 of this Annual Report was approved by the Board of Directors 
on 9 June 2016.

For and on behalf of the Board

Harry Wells
Chairman
9 June 2016
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Directors’ Report – Statutory Information

The Directors submit their report together with the audited Financial Statements of the Company for the 
year ended 31 March 2016.

Strategic Report

The Directors’ Report should be read in conjunction with the Strategic Report on pages 2 to 12 which 
contains information on the Company’s results and dividends, risks and uncertainties, key performance 
indicators, social issues, employees, events since the year end and future developments. 

Corporate governance

The Corporate Governance Statement on pages 18 to 22 forms part of this report.

Activities and status

The principal activity of the Company is to carry on the business of an investment trust company.  
The Company is an investment company as defined in section 833 of the Companies Act 2006.

The manner in which the Company conducts its affairs meets the requirements for approval as an investment 
trust under section 1158 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010. In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has 
met the on-going requirements of section 1158 for the year ended 31 March 2016 and intends to continue 
to do so.

Alternative Investment Fund Managers Directive (“AIFMD”)

The Company is classified as an alternative investment fund under AIFMD and the Company has been 
entered	on	the	register	of	small	UK	AIFMs.

Life of the Company

The Company does not have a fixed life. At the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held in 
July 2016 the Board will propose an Ordinary Resolution for the continuation of the Company in its current 
form. If this resolution is passed, then a similar resolution will be proposed at the third subsequent Annual 
General Meeting. If such a resolution is not passed, the Board shall draw up proposals for the voluntary 
liquidation, unitisation or other reorganisation of the Company for submission to the members of the 
Company by no later than 90 days after such resolution is defeated.

After careful consideration, the directors recommend that shareholders vote in favour of the resolution for 
the continuation of the Company.

Directors

The Directors of the Company at the date of this Report are shown on page 5. All Directors are non-
executive.	Harry	Wells	was	appointed	in	February	2002,	Tom	Waring	was	appointed	in	May	2008,	Gregory	
Shenkman was appointed in August 2011, Susan Thornton in July 2014 and Jim Ryall in June 2015. All of 
the Directors at the year end, with the exception of Mr Ryall, served in office throughout the year under 
review.	On	7	July	2015,	Sir	David	Cooksey	retired	as	Chairman	and	a	Director	of	the	Company.	Harry	Wells	
was appointed by the Board as Chairman of the Company upon the retirement of Sir David Cooksey.

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association at least one third of the directors shall retire from office 
at each Annual General Meeting. If any Director has at the start of the Annual General Meeting been in 
office for more than three years since his or her last appointment or reappointment he or she shall retire.  
A retiring Director is eligible for re-election.
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Directors’ Report – Statutory Information continued

In	accordance	with	the	UKLA	Listing	Rules,	Mr	Waring	will	retire	at	the	forthcoming	Annual	General	Meeting	
(AGM)	and	being	eligible,	offer	himself	for	re-election.

In	 accordance	 with	 the	 Association	 of	 Investment	 Companies	 (“AIC”)	 Code	 of	 Corporate	 Governance,	
Mr	Wells	will	retire	at	the	forthcoming	AGM	and	being	eligible	offer	himself	for	re-election.

Substantial shareholdings

The	Company	had	been	notified	or	 is	aware	of	the	following	significant	holdings	of	3%	or	more	of	the	
Company’s shares as at 31 March 2016:

Ordinary  
Shares

As at  
31 March 2016 

% of Issued 
Shares

The Estate of Richard Thornton 3,611,083 18.06
The Thornton Foundation 1,744,728 8.72
1607 Capital Partners 1,692,100 8.46
Rysaffe	Trustees	Company	(CI)	Limited	 
	 (for	R	C	Thornton	1971	settlement) 1,600,623 8.00
Miton	Worldwide	Growth	Investment	Trust	plc 1,470,000 7.35
Field Nominees Limited 1,416,178 7.08
The Rabbit Trust 709,975 3.55

There are no significant changes since 31 March 2016 of which the Board is aware.

Investment management

Blackfriars	Asset	Management	Limited	(“Blackfriars”)	is	the	Company’s	Investment	Manager.	The	Directors	
are satisfied that the Investment Manager has the suitable skills and experience to manage the Company’s 
investments and believe that the continuing appointment of Blackfriars is in the interests of shareholders as 
a	whole.	Blackfriars	is	regulated	by	the	Financial	Conduct	Authority	in	the	United	Kingdom.

Further details on the investment management agreement can be found in note 6 to the Financial Statements 
on page 44.

Company Secretary and Administrator

Cavendish Administration Limited is the secretary of the Company and is also responsible for the Company’s 
administrative matters. Cavendish Administration Limited was acquired by the PraxisIFM Group in November 
2015. The Company’s contract with Cavendish Administration Limited will be novated to PraxisIFM Fund 
Services	(UK)	Limited	with	effect	from	1	July	2016.

Share capital

At 31 March 2015 and 31 March 2016, the authorised share capital was £7,500,000 divided into 30,000,000 
Ordinary Shares of 25p each, of which 20,000,000 Ordinary Shares of 25p each were issued and fully paid. 
There were no changes to the capital structure during the year or between 31 March 2016 and the date of 
this	report.	At	31	March	2016	the	Ordinary	Share	price	was	154.0p	(2015:	178.0p).
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The following sets out the respective rights and obligations attaching to the Ordinary Shares of the Company:

Voting

The Ordinary Shares confer the right to receive notice and to attend and vote at any General Meeting of 
the Company. Each Ordinary Share carries the right to one vote. There are no restrictions on voting rights. 
The deadline for the valid exercise of voting rights is set out in the notes to the Notice of Annual General 
Meeting and in the Proxy Form.

Dividends

Any dividend declared by the Directors shall be paid at the same rate on each Ordinary Share of the Company.

Transfers

There are no restrictions on the transfers of Ordinary Shares in the Company and no limitations on the 
holding of Ordinary Shares or requirements to obtain the approval of the Company, or other Shareholders 
for any transfer. 

Winding up

The assets of the Company shall on a winding up be divided amongst the Shareholders on the basis as 
determined by the Liquidator, with the sanction of a resolution of the Shareholders. The Company is not 
aware of any agreements with or between Shareholders restricting the transfer of Ordinary Shares, or which 
would take effect in the event of a change of control of the Company.

Powers of the Board

The Board may exercise all such powers of the Company and do on behalf of the Company all such acts 
which are within the scope of the Articles of Association of the Company and which are not required 
by Statute or the Articles to be exercised or carried out by the Company in General Meeting, subject, 
nevertheless, to the provisions of the Statutes and the Articles and to such directions as may be prescribed 
by the Company by Special Resolution, but so that no such direction and no alteration to the Articles shall 
invalidate any prior act of the Board which would have been valid if that direction or alteration had not been 
given or made.

Non-mainstream pooled investments (“NMPIs”)

FCA rules determine which investment products can be promoted to ordinary retail investors. As a result 
of these rules, certain investment products are classified as NMPIs and, as a result, face restrictions on their 
promotion to retail investors. 

The Company currently conducts its affairs so that the shares issued by the Company can be recommended 
by Independent Financial Advisers to ordinary retail investors in accordance with the FCA’s rules in relation 
to NMPIs and intends to continue to do so for the foreseeable future. 

The Company’s shares are excluded from the FCA’s restrictions which apply to non-mainstream investment 
products because they are shares in a company with investment trust status, but this may change if proposals 
to classify investment trusts as “complex instruments” are introduced by MiFID 2.

Environmental matters

The Company has no greenhouse gas emissions to report from its operations, nor does it have responsibility 
for	any	other	emissions	producing	sources	under	the	Companies	Act	2006	(Strategic	Report	and	Directors’	
Reports)	Regulations	2013.
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Directors’ Report – Statutory Information continued

Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities in respect of the Annual Report, the Directors’ 
Remuneration Report and Financial Statements

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report, the Directors’ Remuneration Policy and 
Implementation Reports and the Financial Statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations. 
Company	law	requires	the	Directors	to	prepare	Financial	Statements	for	each	financial	year.	Under	the	law,	
the	Directors	have	elected	to	prepare	Financial	Statements	in	accordance	with	United	Kingdom	Generally	
Accepted	Accounting	Practice	(United	Kingdom	Accounting	Standards	and	applicable	law).	Under	company	
law, the Directors must not approve the Financial Statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true 
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the net return of the Company for that period. 
In preparing these Financial Statements, the Directors are required to:

•	 select	suitable	accounting	policies	and	then	apply	them	consistently;	

•	 make	judgements	and	accounting	estimates	that	are	reasonable	and	prudent;	

•	 	state	 whether	 applicable	 UK	 Accounting	 Standards	 have	 been	 followed,	 subject	 to	 any	 material	
departures	disclosed	and	explained	in	the	Financial	Statements;	and	

•	 	prepare	the	Financial	Statements	on	the	going	concern	basis	unless	it	is	inappropriate	to	presume	that	
the Company will continue in business. 

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain 
the Company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the 
Company and enable the Directors to ensure that the Financial Statements and Directors’ Remuneration 
Report comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of 
the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other 
irregularities.

The Financial Statements are published on www.blackfriarsam.com, which is a website maintained by the 
Company’s Investment Manager. The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the 
Company’s information that is available on the website. The work carried out by the Auditor does not 
involve consideration of the maintenance and integrity of the website and accordingly the Auditor accepts 
no responsibility for any changes that have occurred to the Annual Report and Financial Statements since 
they	were	initially	presented	on	the	website.	Legislation	in	the	United	Kingdom	governing	the	preparation	
and dissemination of the Financial Statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Directors’ confirmation statement

Each of the Directors, whose names and functions are listed on page 5, confirms that, to the best of the 
knowledge of that Director:

•	 	the	 Financial	 Statements,	which	have	been	prepared	 in	accordance	with	United	Kingdom	Generally	
Accepted	Accounting	Practice	(United	Kingdom	Accounting	Standards	and	applicable	law),	give	a	true	
and	fair	view	of	the	assets,	liabilities,	financial	position	and	net	return	of	the	Company;	and	

•	 	the	 Annual	 Report,	 including	 the	 Strategic	 Report,	 includes	 a	 fair	 review	 of	 the	 development	 and	
performance of the business and the position of the Company, together with a description of the 
principal risks and uncertainties that it faces. 
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Having taken advice from the Audit Committee, the Directors consider that the Annual Report and Financial 
Statements taken as a whole are fair, balanced and understandable and provide information necessary for 
Shareholders to assess the Company’s position and performance, business model and strategy.

Going Concern

The Financial Statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. The following is a summary of the 
Board’s assessment of the going concern status of the Company: 

Operational resources

The majority of the net assets of the Company are securities which are traded on recognised stock exchanges. 
After considering the Company’s current financial resources, the Directors are satisfied that its resources are 
adequate for continuing in business for the foreseeable future.

Continuation vote

The Company will put forward a resolution for its continuation at the Annual General Meeting. After careful 
consideration, the Directors recommend that shareholders vote in favour of the resolution.

Disclosure of information to auditors

The Directors who held office at the date of approval of the Directors’ Report confirm that, so far as they are 
aware,	there	is	no	relevant	audit	information	of	which	the	Company’s	Auditor	is	unaware;	and	each	Director	
has taken all of the steps that he or she ought to have taken as a Director to make himself or herself aware 
of any relevant audit information and establish that the Company’s Auditor is aware of that information.

Auditor

Grant	Thornton	UK	LLP,	have	indicated	their	willingness	to	continue	in	office.	A	resolution	will	be	proposed	
at	the	forthcoming	Annual	General	Meeting	to	re-appoint	Grant	Thornton	UK	LLP	as	Independent	Auditor	
and to authorise the Directors to determine the Auditor’s remuneration.

By order of the Board 
Anthony Lee
For and on behalf of 
Cavendish Administration Limited
Company Secretary
9 June 2016
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Directors’ Report – Corporate Governance Statement 

The	Listing	Rules	and	the	Disclosure	Rules	and	Transparency	Rules	 (“Disclosure	Rules”)	of	the	UK	Listing	
Authority require listed companies to disclose how they have applied the principles and complied with 
the	provisions	of	the	UK	Corporate	Governance	Code	(“the	Code”),	as	issued	by	the	Financial	Reporting	
Council	(“FRC”).	The	provisions	of	the	Code	issued	by	the	FRC	in	September	2014	are	applicable	to	the	year	
under review. The Code can be viewed at www.frc.org.uk.

The	 related	Association	of	 Investment	Companies	 (“AIC”)	Corporate	Governance	Guide	 for	 Investment	
Companies	 (“the	 AIC	 Code”)	 provides	 specific	 corporate	 governance	 guidelines	 to	 investment	 trusts.	 
The FRC has confirmed that AIC member companies who follow and report against the AIC Code will be 
meeting	their	obligations	in	relation	to	the	UK	Corporate	Governance	Code.	The	AIC	Code	can	be	viewed	
at www.theaic.co.uk.

Compliance

The Board supports the standards of corporate governance set out in the AIC Code and, throughout the 
year ended 31 March 2016, the Company complied with the provisions of the Code subject to those aspects 
explained below where the Company has not complied or does not feel it appropriate for a company of its 
size to do so. It should be noted that as an investment trust, all the Directors are non-executive and all of 
the Company’s day to day responsibilities are delegated to third parties.

The Board of Directors

At 31 March 2016 the Board consisted of five members, all of whom were non-executive and three of whom 
were considered to be independent. Particulars of the Directors are set out on page 5. Gregory Shenkman 
is the current Senior Independent Director and is available to Shareholders if they feel that contact through 
the Chairman is inappropriate or the Chairman is not available.

The Directors normally meet as a Board on a quarterly basis. The Audit Committee meets at least twice 
each year. The Management Engagement Committee meets at least once a year and the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committees meet as and when required.

The actual number of formal meetings of the Board and Committees during the year under review is given 
below, together with individual Director’s attendance at those meetings. The first number in the table is 
the meetings attended by the individual Director and the second number is the number of meetings that 
Director was eligible to attend. There were also a number of other ad hoc meetings during the year.

Number held

Quarterly  
Board 
4

Nominations 
Committee
1

Audit 
Committee
2

Management 
Engagement
Committee
1

Harry	Wells 4/4 1/1 2/2 1/1
Sir David Cooksey 2/2 1/1 1/1 1/1
Gregory Shenkman 4/4 1/1 2/2 1/1
Susan Thornton 4/4 1/1 n/a n/a
Tom	Waring 4/4 1/1 n/a n/a
Jim Ryall 3/4 n/a 1/1 n/a

n/a = not applicable – not eligible to attend 

The Board also held two Committee meetings to deal with approval of documents.
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The Board sets out guidelines within which the Investment Manager implements the investment policy 
and has a schedule of matters reserved for consideration by the Directors. A full report on the investment 
holdings and performance is received from the Investment Manager and discussed at Board meetings.

The Investment Manager also reports regularly to the Board on the Company’s financial position.

All Board members have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary, which is responsible to 
the Board for ensuring its compliance with Board procedures, company law and other relevant matters. The 
appointment or replacement of the Company Secretary is a matter for the Board as a whole. The Directors 
are authorised  to take independent professional advice, if necessary, at the Company’s expense.

All of the Directors are able to allocate sufficient time to the Company to discharge their responsibilities 
effectively.	Upon	joining	the	Board,	any	new	directors	receive	an	induction	and	relevant	training	is	available	
to directors on an ongoing basis.

Board changes

Sir David Cooksey stood down as Chairman at the Annual General Meeting held on 7 July 2015. The 
Nominations	 Committee	 recommended,	 and	 the	 Board	 approved,	 the	 appointment	 of	 Harry	 Wells	 as	
successor Chairman. Gregory Shenkman became the Company’s Senior Independent Director and Audit 
Committee	Chairman	at	the	time	of	Mr	Wells’	appointment	as	Chairman	of	the	Company.

The Nominations Committee recommended, and the Board approved, the appointment of Jim Ryall as a 
Director of the Company with effect from 2 June 2015. Mr Ryall is considered to be independent. 

Board Structure

There is a clear division of responsibilities between the Chairman, the Board, the Investment Manager and 
other third party service providers. No single Director has unfettered power of decision. The Chairman is 
responsible for leadership of the Board, ensuring its effectiveness on all aspects of its role, setting the agenda 
and ensuring that the Directors receive accurate, timely and clear information. The Board decides matters 
concerning the Company’s investment objective, gearing, capital structure, governance, the appointment 
of service providers and liaison with Shareholders. It is the sole responsibility of the Investment Manager 
to take decisions on the purchase and sale of individual investments. Representatives of the Investment 
Manager and the Company Secretary attend each Board meeting. The Board, the Investment Manager 
and the Company Secretary operate in a mutually supportive and co-operative manner in so far as their 
responsibilities permit.

Board Independence

The Board recognises that its prime purpose is to direct the business so as to maximise shareholder 
value within a framework of proper controls. The majority of the Board is independent. As stated above, 
Tom	Waring	is	also	a	Director	of	the	Investment	Manager	and	as	such	is	not	considered	to	be	independent.	
Susan Thornton is not considered by the Board to be independent under the AIC Code. However, in the 
opinion	of	the	other	Directors,	Mr	Waring	and	Mrs	Thornton	act	strongly	in	the	interests	of	the	Company	
and refrain from voting on any matters where there is a possible or actual conflict of interest.

Board Diversity

The Company’s policy is that the Board should have a broad range of skills. Consideration is given to 
industry guidance on boardroom diversity.
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Directors’ Report – Corporate Governance Statement continued

Evaluation of the performance of the Board

The Board has recently conducted its annual evaluation of the performance of the Board, its Committees, 
individual Directors and third party service providers. A review of the Chairman’s performance was conducted 
by the Senior Independent Director, Gregory Shenkman. As part of the evaluation process the individual 
Directors completed evaluation programmes and the results were discussed by the Board. The Board is 
satisfied, from the results of the evaluation, that the Chairman, the other Directors, the Board Committees 
and third party service providers function effectively, collectively and individually, and that the Board contains 
an appropriate balance of skills and experience to supervise  management of the Company in an effective 
manner. 

Election and re-election of Directors

The biographies of the Directors are set out on page 5 of this Report.

The following Directors will retire and being eligible offer themselves for re-election or election at the 
forthcoming Annual General Meeting:

•	 	Tom	Waring	because	of	his	connection	with	the	Investment	Manager	is	required	by	the	Listing	Rules	to	
retire annually at each AGM. 

•	 	Harry	Wells	in	accordance	with	Principle	3	of	the	AIC	Code	which	requires	Directors	who	have	served	
for more than nine years to retire annually at each AGM. 

The Board acknowledges the AIC’s Code provisions relating to Directors’ tenure. Directors serving longer 
than nine years will be subject to annual re-election. The Board does not, however, have a pre-set criterion 
for retirement based on length of service believing that recommendation for re-election should be on an 
individual basis following rigorous review. The Directors do not consider longevity of service as an impairment 
to independence or judgement but were this to become the case the relevant Director would stand down.

The Board greatly values the experience and contribution provided by the Directors standing for re-election 
or election and fully supports the proposal that these Directors be re-elected or elected.

The Nominations Committee

The Board as a whole fulfils the function of the Nominations Committee which considers appointments to 
the Board. The Directors have between them many years’ collective experience within the industry and a 
broad knowledge of individuals, who would have the necessary skills to promote and develop the Company. 
Accordingly, the Nominations Committee does not consider it necessary to engage the services of third 
party search consultants unless no such suitably skilled individuals can be identified by the members of the 
Committee.

Remuneration

Under	the	Listing	Rules,	where	an	investment	trust	company	has	no	executive	directors,	the	UK	Corporate	
Governance Code’s provisions relating to directors’ remuneration do not apply. Details of the Directors’ fees 
are given in the Directors’ Remuneration Implementation Report on pages 27 and 28. 
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D&O Insurance

The Company arranges appropriate Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance cover in respect of legal action 
against the Directors and Officers.

Audit Committee

A report on page 23 provides details of the role, composition and meetings of the Audit Committee together 
with a description of the work of the Audit Committee in discharging its responsibilities.

Since the Company’s investment management, accounting and custodial activities are carried out by third 
party service providers, the Board does not consider it necessary to have a separate internal audit function. 
As the Company has no employees it also does not consider there is a need for ‘whistleblowing’ procedures. 
The Audit Committee has reviewed the ‘whistle blowing’ procedures of the Investment Manager. It satisfies 
itself about the effectiveness of internal controls by requiring service providers to report and give assurance 
on their controls to the Audit Committee. Although the Directors can thereby provide reasonable assurance 
against material misstatement or loss, they acknowledge that risk cannot be eliminated altogether. 
Their approach to managing internal control and risk conforms to the recommendations of the Financial 
Reporting Council’s “Risk Management, Internal Control and Related Financial Business Reporting” 
guidance. The Board confirms that in this manner it has reviewed the effectiveness of internal controls for 
the period under review, taking into account matters arising up to the date of the Report.

Management Engagement Committee

Gregory Shenkman was Chairman of the Management Engagement Committee during the financial 
year. Since the year end Mr Shenkman has stepped down as Chairman of the Management Engagement 
Committee	and	Mr	Wells	has	been	appointed	in	his	place.

At the year end, the Management Engagement Committee comprised Gregory Shenkman, Jim Ryall 
and	Harry	Wells.	The	Management	Engagement	Committee	considers	the	terms	of	engagement	and	the	
remuneration	payable	 to	 the	 third	party	 service	providers	 to	 the	Company,	 (see	note	6	 to	 the	 Financial	
Statements).

Internal Control

There is an ongoing process for identifying, evaluating and managing those risks which are significant for 
the Company. This process has been in place for the year ended 31 March 2016 and up to the date of this 
Annual Report, and is regularly reviewed by the Board. A formal review, utilising a detailed risk assessment 
programme, takes place at least annually. 

The Board has ultimate responsibility for the system of internal control and for reviewing its effectiveness. 
An independent custodian has responsibility for safeguarding the Company’s assets and there are clearly 
defined responsibilities between the Board, the Custodian and the Investment Manager, with detailed 
operating procedures in place. The internal controls operated by the Board include the authorisation of 
the investment strategy and regular reviews of investment performance and financial results. The system 
is designed to manage, rather than eliminate, the risk of being unable to meet business objectives and 
can provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against material misstatements or loss, as explained in 
the FRC’s guidance. The Board has monitored the operation and effectiveness of the Company’s system of 
internal controls during the period through its ongoing identification, assessment and management of the 
Company’s key risks. The Company’s risk matrix is reviewed at least annually by the Audit Committee.



Job No: 26282 Proof Event: 7 Black Line Level: 3 Park Communications Ltd Alpine Way London E6 6LA

Customer: Cavendish Project Title: Establishment Investment Trust Annual Report 2016 T: 0207 055 6500 F: 020 7055 6600

The Establishment Investment Trust plc Annual Report 31 March 2016

Page 22

Directors’ Report – Corporate Governance Statement continued

The Board has contractually delegated the management of the investment portfolio to Blackfriars Asset 
Management Limited, the day-to-day administration and company secretarial functions to Cavendish 
Administration Limited, and the custodial services, which include the safeguarding of the Company’s assets, 
to The Northern Trust Company. These contracts were entered into after full consideration by the Board 
of the services undertaken. The Investment Manager has established an internal control framework to 
provide reasonable assurance on the effectiveness of internal controls operated on behalf of its clients. 
The Investment Manager’s compliance department assesses and reports to the Board on the effectiveness 
of the internal controls and the business risk exposure of the Investment Manager.

The Investment Manager, Administrator and the Custodian of the Company’s assets all maintain their own 
systems of internal and financial controls which are reviewed annually by the Audit Committee.

The Directors confirm that they have carried out a robust assessment of the principal risks facing the 
Company, including those that would threaten its business model, future performance, solvency or liquidity. 
The principal risks and how they are being managed is set out in the Strategic Report.

Shareholder Relations

The Company, through the Investment Manager, has regular contact with its institutional Shareholders and 
the views of Shareholders are communicated to the Board. The Board supports the principle that the Annual 
General	Meeting	(AGM)	of	Shareholders	provides	a	constructive	opportunity	to	facilitate	communication	
with the Company’s investors, and the Board encourages Shareholders to attend and participate in the 
AGM.

Voting Policy

The Investment Manager researches the companies and markets in which the Company invests and 
accordingly the Board considers the Investment Manager to be best placed to vote the shares of invested 
companies where such rights exist. The Board has therefore authorised the Investment Manager to vote the 
shares of invested companies on a routine business, having regard to both their interests and those of the 
Company. The Investment Manager, however, is required to consult with the Chairman, or with the Board, 
if appropriate, before voting on any contentious or sensitive issues. The Board has reviewed the Investment 
Manager’s	policy	on	compliance	with	the	UK	Stewardship	Code.

Commissions

The Board reviews the details of dealing commissions paid.

Annual General Meeting

The AGM of the Company will be held on 12 July 2016 at 12 noon. All Shareholders are encouraged to 
attend. The business of the meeting is set out in the Notice of Annual General Meeting on page 54.

Details of proxy voting in respect of each resolution will be available at the Meeting and subsequently on the 
website at www.blackfriarsam.com. It is not proposed to state individual proxy voting figures at the Meeting 
after each resolution is voted on, and those attending will instead be provided with a printed summary of 
the voting on all resolutions.
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Report of the Audit Committee

Role, composition and meetings

The	Company’s	Audit	Committee	comprises	Gregory	Shenkman	(Chairman),	Harry	Wells	and	Jim	Ryall.	Mr	
Wells	was	Chairman	of	the	Audit	Committee	until	his	appointment	as	Chairman	of	the	Company	at	which	
point Mr Shenkman was appointed as Chairman of the Audit Committee. 

All members of the Committee are independent and have considerable experience of the investment 
industry which the Board considers relevant to their roles on the Committee. The Committee meets at 
least twice each year with representatives of the Investment Manager who report on the proper conduct of 
the Investment Manager’s business and internal controls in accordance with the regulatory environment in 
which both the Company and the Investment Manager operate. Minutes of meetings are formally recorded 
and reported to the Board by the Audit Committee Chairman. The Company’s external Auditor also attends 
Committee meetings at least once a year and reports on the Auditor’s work procedures, the quality and 
effectiveness of the Company’s accounting procedures and its findings in relation to the Company’s statutory 
audit. The responsibilities of the Audit Committee include the review of internal controls and risk matrix, 
accounting policies, Financial Statements, the Auditor’s appointment, independence and remuneration and 
the carrying value of any unquoted investments. The Audit Committee also agrees any non-audit work 
carried out by the Auditor and the fees payable for such work.

Attendance at the Audit Committee meetings during the year is set out on page 18.

Provision of non-audit services

The Audit Committee and the Board consider the nature and terms of any non-audit work undertaken 
by the Auditor and are satisfied from a review of both the audit and non-audit work undertaken for the 
Company	by	Grant	Thornton	UK	LLP	during	the	year	that	the	Auditor’s	objectivity	and	independence	was	
not compromised during the year.

Financial Statements and significant accounting matters

The Audit Committee considered the following significant accounting issues in relation to the Company’s 
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2016.

Valuation of investments

Over	90%	of	the	Company’s	assets	are	quoted	investments.	The	valuation	of	these	investments	is	a	material	
matter in the production of the Financial Statements. The Audit Committee reviewed the procedures in place 
for ensuring accurate valuation of investments and discussed the valuation of the Company’s investments at 
Board meetings and at the year end with the Manager and the Secretary. 

Income

The Audit Committee reviewed the procedures in place for income recognition and discussed the subject 
with the Manager and the Secretary.

Tax status

The Company may suffer tax on gains on the realisation of investments if investment trust status is not 
maintained. The Audit Committee reviewed the compliance of the Company during the year with the 
eligibility conditions and ongoing requirements, which enable investment trust status to be maintained.
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Report of the Audit Committee continued

Going concern

The Audit Committee reviewed the Company’s financial resources and considered the forthcoming 
continuation vote, and concluded that it is appropriate for the Company’s Financial Statements to be 
prepared on a going concern basis as described in the Directors’ Report on page 17.

Audit tenure

Grant Thornton LLP has been the external Auditor to the Company for 15 years. The appointment of the 
external Auditor is reviewed annually by the Audit Committee and the Board and is subject to approval 
by Shareholders. The audit has not been subject to tender since the Company’s launch. In line with good 
corporate governance, the Audit Committee intends to conduct an audit tender within the next twelve 
months.

Effectiveness of external audit

The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing the effectiveness of the external audit process. The Audit 
Committee reviewed the external Auditor’s audit plan prior to the commencement of the audit and received 
a presentation of the results of the audit following completion of the main audit testing. The Audit Committee 
performed a review of the external Auditor following the presentation of the results of the audit. The review 
included a discussion of the audit process and the ability of the external Auditor to fulfil its role. 

The Board has accepted the Audit Committee’s recommendation that a proposal to re-appoint Grant 
Thornton	UK	LLP,	as	independent	Auditor	be	considered	at	the	forthcoming	Annual	General	Meeting.

Gregory Shenkman
Audit Committee Chairman
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Directors’ Remuneration Policy

Introduction

The Company has prepared this report, in accordance with the requirements of the Large and Medium-sized 
Companies	and	Groups	(Accounts	and	Reports)	(Amendment)	Regulations	2013.	

This	 policy	 provides	 details	 of	 the	 remuneration	 for	 the	 directors	 of	 the	 Company	 (the	 “Remuneration	
Policy”).	The	Remuneration	Policy	was	approved	by	Shareholders	at	the	Company’s	Annual	General	Meeting	
held on 8 July 2014. The provisions set out in this policy will apply until they are next put forward for 
Shareholder approval. The Company’s Remuneration Policy must be put forward for Shareholder approval at 
least every three years. In the event of any proposed significant variation to the policy, Shareholder approval 
will be sought for the proposed new policy prior to its implementation.

All the directors are non-executive directors and the Company has no employees.

Directors’ Service Contracts

It is the Board’s policy that none of the Directors has a service contract. The terms of their appointment 
provide that a Director shall retire and be subject to election at the first Annual General Meeting after their 
appointment and the Company’s Articles of Association require re-election every three years after that. 
The terms also provide that a Director may be removed without notice and that compensation will not be 
due on leaving office.

Fees

The remuneration of non-executive Directors should reflect the experience of the Board as a whole, be fair 
and comparable to that of other investment trusts that are similar in size, have a similar capital structure 
and a similar investment objective. 

The maximum aggregate Directors’ fees pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association is £150,000 per 
financial year. The remuneration terms are reviewed annually by the independent Directors. No Director 
may vote on his or her own remuneration. Directors are not eligible for pension entitlements, share options, 
long-term incentive schemes or other benefits.

The Directors shall also be entitled to be reimbursed for all expenses incurred in performance of their duties. 
These expenses are unlikely to be significant. 

Fees are payable from the date of appointment as a Director of the Company and cease on date of 
termination of appointment. The Directors are not entitled to compensation for loss of office.

The Board will not pay any incentive fees to any person to encourage them to become a director of the 
Company. The Board may, however, pay fees to external agencies to assist the Board in the search for and 
selection of Directors.
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Directors’ Remuneration Policy continued

Current and future policy

Component Applicable to Current annual rate1 Purpose of reward Operation

Annual fee Chairman £20,000 Chairman of a plc Subject to Board 
determination

Annual fee Chairman of the 
Audit Committee

£17,500 Services as  
non-executive 
Director plus 
additional 
responsibilities

Subject to Board 
determination

Annual fee Other Directors £15,000 Services as  
non-executive 
Director

Subject to Board 
determination

Expenses All Directors Not applicable Reimbursement  
of expenses  
incurred in the 
performance of 
duties

Submission of 
appropriate 
supporting 
documentation

1 Annual rates are at the discretion of the Board subject to aggregate maximum payable to all directors of £150,000

Statement of consideration of conditions elsewhere in the Company

The Company only has non-executive Directors. The Company has no employees. Therefore the process of 
consulting with employees on the setting of the Remuneration Policy is not applicable.

Review of the Remuneration Policy

The Remuneration Policy will be reviewed on an annual basis by the Remuneration Committee and any 
changes are subject to approval by the Board. The remuneration payable to the directors will take into 
account a number of factors, inter alia, the experience of the directors, the complexity of the Company and 
prevailing market rates for the investment trust sector. 
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Directors’ Remuneration Implementation Report

Introduction

The Company has prepared this report, in accordance with the requirements of the Large and Medium-sized 
Companies	and	Groups	(Accounts	and	Reports)	(Amendment)	Regulations	2013.	

The Directors’ Remuneration Implementation Report will be put forward for approval by Shareholders on 
an annual basis. The result of the Shareholder resolution on the Implementation Report is non-binding on 
the Company, although it gives Shareholders an opportunity to express their views, which will be taken into 
account by the Board.

The regulations require the company’s external Auditor to audit certain of the disclosures provided herein. 
Where	disclosures	have	been	audited,	they	are	indicated	as	such.	The	Auditor’s	opinion	on	these	disclosures	
is included in the report of the Independent Auditor on pages 30 to 35.

Remuneration Committee

All Directors are non-executive and the Board as a whole fulfils the function of a Remuneration Committee.

During the year ended 31 March 2016, the fees payable to the directors were: £20,000 to the Chairman, 
£17,500 to the Chairman of the Audit Committee and £15,000 to the other directors. 

The fees were raised to their current levels in the year ended 31 March 2011.

Performance Graph

The	 following	 chart	 compares	 the	 Company’s	 share	 price	 total	 return	 to	 the	 FTSE	 WMA	 Stock	 Market	
Balanced Index. 

Share Price performance relative to the FTSE WMA Stock Market Balanced Index
(31 March 2009 to 31 March 2016)
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Directors’ Remuneration Implementation Report continued

Directors’ emoluments and benefits for the year ended 31 March 2016 (audited)

Fees 
2016 

£

Taxable  
benefits 

2016 
£

Fees 
2015 

£

Taxable 
benefits 

2015 
£

Harry	Wells	(Chairman) 19,356 – 17,500 –
Sir David Cooksey  
	 (retired	as	a	director	7	July	2015) 5,370 – 20,000 –
Gregory	Shenkman	(Chairman	of	 
	 the	Audit	Committee)	 16,853 – 15,000 –
Susan Thornton 15,000 – 10,973 –
Tom	Waring	(a) – – 4,027 –
James	Ryall	(appointed	2	June	2015) 12,473 – – –
Total 69,052 – 67,500 –

(a)	 Tom	 Waring’s	 fees	 were	 payable	 to	 the	 date	 of	 the	 appointment	 of	 Blackfriars	 Asset	 Management	
Limited	(“Blackfriars”)	as	Investment	Manager	to	the	Company.	Due	to	his	connection	with	Blackfriars,	he	
has waived his entitlement to Directors’ emoluments since the date of appointment of Blackfriars. 

The fee rates for the year ended 31 March 2016 were set out in the Annual Report for the year ended 
31 March 2015. A non-binding ordinary resolution to approve the Directors’ Remuneration Implementation 
Report contained in the Annual Report for the year ended 31 March 2015 was put forward at the Annual 
General	Meeting	held	on	7	July	2015.	The	resolution	was	passed	with	proxies	representing	99.7%	of	the	
shares voted being in favour of the resolution.

An ordinary resolution to approve the Directors’ Remuneration Policy was last put forward at the Annual 
General	Meeting	held	on	8	July	2014.	The	resolution	was	passed	with	proxies	representing	100%	of	the	
shares voted being in favour of the resolution.

Other than the Directors’ fees, there are no other taxable benefits payable to the Directors.

Relative importance of spend on pay 

The following table sets out the total level of Directors’ remuneration compared to the distributions to 
shareholders by way of dividends, and the management fees and other expenses incurred by the Company. 
No	buy	backs	of	the	Company’s	own	shares	were	performed	during	the	year	(2015:	£nil).

2016 
£’000

2015 
£’000

Spend on Directors’ fees 69 68
Management fees and other expenses 549 567
Dividends paid to Shareholders 980 940

The information in the table above is required by the regulations stated at the start of this Directors’ 
Remuneration Implementation Report with the exception of management fees and other expenses which 
have been included to show the total operating expenses of the Company.
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Directors’ interests (audited)

The interests of the Directors in the Ordinary Shares of the Company on the dates shown were as follows:

Ordinary Shares of 25p each

31 March 2016 31 March 2015

Gregory Shenkman 3,415 3,415
Susan	Thornton	(a) 1,744,728 1,744,728
Tom	Waring – –
Harry	Wells	(b)	 26,000 26,000
Harry	Wells	(c)	 4,000 4,000
Jim	Ryall	(appointed	2	June	2015) – –
Sir	David	Cooksey	(retired	7	July	2015) not applicable 50,000

(a)		 As	a	Trustee	of	The	Thornton	Foundation
(b)	 19,000	held	in	SIPP	and	7,000	in	his	own	name
(c)		 As	a	Trustee	of	The	Pauline	Lamb	Grandchildren’s	Trust
 

Susan Thornton has an interest in 3,611,083 Ordinary Shares as a beneficiary of The Estate of Richard Thornton.

No changes in the above interests have been notified to the Company between 31 March 2016 and the 
date of this Report.

There is no requirement for the Directors to own the Ordinary Shares of the Company. 

Disclosure of interests

Tom	Waring	is	a	director	of	the	Investment	Manager,	Blackfriars	Asset	Management	Limited,	which	receives	
fees under the terms of the Investment Management Agreement as set out in note 6 to the Financial 
Statements.

All of the Directors are non-executive and no Director has at any time during the accounting period had a 
contract of service with the Company. Save as disclosed above and in note 6 to the Financial Statements, no 
Director was a party to, or had an interest in any contract or arrangement with the Company.

Annual statement

On behalf of the Board and in accordance with the Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups 
(Accounts	and	Reports)	(Amendment)	Regulations	2013,	the	Board	confirms	that	the	Directors’	Remuneration	
Implementation Report and Policy Report summarise, as applicable, for the year to 31 March 2016:

(a)	the	major	decisions	on	Directors’	remuneration;

(b)	any	substantial	changes	relating	to	Directors’	remuneration	made	during	the	year;	and

(c)	the	context	in	which	the	changes	occurred	and	decisions	have	been	taken.

By order of the Board

Harry Wells 
Chairman
9 June 2016



Job No: 26282 Proof Event: 7 Black Line Level: 3 Park Communications Ltd Alpine Way London E6 6LA

Customer: Cavendish Project Title: Establishment Investment Trust Annual Report 2016 T: 0207 055 6500 F: 020 7055 6600

The Establishment Investment Trust plc Annual Report 31 March 2016

Page 30

Independent Auditor’s Report to the members of The Establishment 
Investment Trust plc

Our opinion on the financial statements is unmodified

In our opinion the financial statements:

•	 	give a true and fair view of the state of the Company’s affairs as at 31 March 2016 and of its loss for 
the	year	then	ended; 

•	 	have	 been	 properly	 prepared	 in	 accordance	 with	 applicable	 law	 and	 United	 Kingdom	 Accounting	
Standards	(United	Kingdom	Generally	Accepted	Accounting	Practice)	including	FRS	102	‘The	Financial	
Reporting	Standard	applicable	in	the	UK	and	Republic	of	Ireland’;	and

•	 	have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Who we are reporting to

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 
of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s 
members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. 
To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the 
Company and the Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we 
have formed.

What we have audited

The Establishment Investment Trust plc’s financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2016 comprise the 
Income Statement, the Statement of Changes in Equity, the Statement of Financial Position, the Statement 
of Cash Flows and the related notes.

The	financial	reporting	framework	that	has	been	applied	in	their	preparation	is	United	Kingdom	Generally	
Accepted	Accounting	Practice	including	FRS	102	‘The	Financial	Reporting	Standard	applicable	in	the	UK	and	
Republic of Ireland’.

Overview of our audit approach

•	 Overall	materiality:	£428,000,	which	represents	1%	of	the	Company’s	net	assets;	and

•	 	Key	audit	risks	were	identified	as	existence	and	valuation	of	quoted	investments	and	the	recognition	of	
revenue from investments.
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Our assessment of risk

In arriving at our opinions set out in this report, we highlight the following risks that, in our judgement, had 
the greatest effect on our audit:

Audit risk How we responded to the risk

Existence and valuation of quoted  
investments

The Company’s objective is to achieve long-term 
capital growth from a managed international 
portfolio of securities. Accordingly, the investment 
portfolio is a significant, material item in the 
financial statements. The existence and valuation 
of quoted investments is therefore a risk that 
requires particular audit attention.

Our audit work included, but was not restricted to:

•	 	understanding	 management’s	 process	 to	
recognise and measure investments including 
ownership	of	investments;

•	 	obtaining	 a	 confirmation	of	 investments	held	
at the year end directly from the independent 
custodian;	

•	 	reviewing	and	testing	the	reconciliation	of	the	
custodian’s records to the records maintained 
by	the	Company’s	administrator;

•	 	understanding	 the	 processes	 that	 ensure all 
investment transactions entered into by the 
investment manager are recorded, obtaining 
authorised contract notes and evidence of 
settlement over a sample of investment trades 
and reviewing and recalculating realised gains 
or	losses	arising	from	said	transactions;

•	 	agreeing	the	valuation	of	quoted	 investments	
to	 an	 independent	 source	 of	 market	 prices;	
and

•	 	determining	 whether	 the	 investments	 are	
traded in active markets to establish the 
reasonableness of the Company’s fair value 
categorisation.

The Company’s accounting policy on the valuation 
of	 investments	 is	 shown	 in	note	1(b)	 and	 related	
disclosures are included in note 10. The Audit 
Committee identified the valuation of investments 
as a significant accounting matter in its report on 
page 23, where the Committee also described the 
action that it has taken to address this matter.
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Audit risk How we responded to the risk

Recogniton of revenue from investments

Investment income is the Company’s major source 
of revenue and a significant, material item in the 
Income Statement. Accordingly, the recognition of 
revenue from investments is therefore a risk that 
requires particular audit attention.

Our audit work included, but was not restricted to: 

•	 	assessing	 through	 review	of	 the	 stated	policy	
against the accounting standards whether 
the Company’s accounting policy for revenue 
recognition	is	in	accordance	with	FRS	102;

•	 	obtaining	an	understanding	of	management’s	
process to recognise revenue in accordance 
with the stated accounting policy from enquiry 
with management and review of relevant third 
party	service	organistion	control	reports;	

•	 	determining	the	validity	of	income	entitlement		
for a sample of dividends declared for 
securities held but disposed of in the year, and 
recalculating income amounts for a sample of 
securities which had declared but not remitted 
dividends	by	the	year	end;	and

•	 	assessing	whether	any	of	the	dividends	should	
have been treated as capital receipts. 

The Company’s accounting policy on income, 
including	 its	 recognition,	 is	 shown	 in	 note	 1(d)	
and related disclosures are included in note 2. The 
Audit Committee identified income as a significant 
accounting matter in its report on page 23, where 
the Committee also described the action that it has 
taken to address this matter.

Our application of materiality and an overview of the scope of our audit

Materiality

We	define	materiality	as	the	magnitude	of	misstatement	in	the	financial	statements	that	makes	it	probable	
that	the	economic	decisions	of	a	reasonably	knowledgeable	person	would	be	changed	or	influenced.	We	
use materiality in determining the nature, timing and extent of our work and in evaluating the results of 
that work.

We	determined	materiality	for	the	audit	of	the	financial	statements	as	a	whole	to	be	£428,000,	which	is	
1%	of	the	Company’s	net	assets.	This	benchmark	is	considered	the	most	appropriate	because	net	assets,	
which is primarily composed of the Company’s investment portfolio, is considered to be the key driver of 
the Company’s total return performance.

Materiality for the current year is lower than the level that we determined for the year ended 31 March 
2015 to reflect the decrease in net asset value.

Independent Auditor’s Report to the members of The Establishment 
Investment Trust plc continued
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We	use	a	different	level	of	materiality,	performance	materiality,	to	drive	the	extent	of	our	testing	and	this	
was	set	at	75%	of	financial	statement	materiality.	We	also	determine	a	lower	level	of	specific	materiality	for	
certain areas such as investment income, directors’ remuneration and related party transactions. 

We	determined	the	threshold	at	which	we	will	communicate	misstatements	to	the	audit	committee	to	be	
£21,000. In addition we will communicate misstatements below that threshold that, in our view, warrant 
reporting on qualitative grounds.

Overview of the scope of our audit

A description of the generic scope of an audit of financial statements is provided on the Financial Reporting 
Council’s website at www.frc.org.uk/auditscopeukprivate.

We	conducted	our	audit	in	accordance	with	International	Standards	on	Auditing	(ISAs)	(UK	and	Ireland).	
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the ‘Responsibilities for the financial 
statements	and	the	audit’	section	of	our	report.	We	believe	that	the	audit	evidence	we	have	obtained	is	
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

We	are	independent	of	the	Company	in	accordance	with	the	Auditing	Practices	Board’s Ethical Standards for 
Auditors, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with those Ethical Standards.

Our audit approach was based on a thorough understanding of the Company’s business and is risk based. 
The day-to-day management of the Company’s investment portfolio, the custody of its investments and 
the maintenance of the Company’s accounting records is outsourced to third-party service providers.  
Accordingly, our audit work included: 

•	 	Obtaining	an	understanding	of,	and	evaluating,	internal	controls	at	the	Company	and	relevant	third-
party service providers. This included a review of reports on the description, design and operating 
effectiveness	of	internal	controls	at	relevant	third-party	service	providers;	and	

•	 	Undertaking	substantive	testing	on	significant	transactions,	account	balances	and	disclosures,	the	extent	
of which was based on various factors such as our overall assessment of the control environment, the 
design effectiveness of controls over individual systems and the management of specific risks.

Other reporting required by regulations

Our opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006 is unmodified

In our opinion:

•	 	the	part	of	the	Directors’	Remuneration	Report	to	be	audited	has	been	properly	prepared	in	accordance	
with	the	Companies	Act	2006;	and

•	 	the	information	given	in	the	Strategic	Report	and	Directors’	Report	for	the	financial	year	for	which	the	
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

Under	the	Companies	Act	2006	we	are	required	to	report	to	you	if,	in	our	opinion:

•	 	adequate	accounting	 records	have	not	been	kept,	or	 returns	adequate	 for	our	audit	have	not	been	
received	from	branches	not	visited	by	us;	or
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the members of The Establishment 
Investment Trust plc continued

•	 	the	financial	statements	and	the	part	of	the	Directors’	Remuneration	Report	to	be	audited	are	not	in	
agreement	with	the	accounting	records	and	returns;	or

•	 	certain	disclosures	of	directors’	remuneration	specified	by	law	are	not	made;	or

•	 we	have	not	received	all	the	information	and	explanations	we	require	for	our	audit.		

Under the Listing Rules, we are required to review:

•	 	the	directors’ statements in relation to going concern and longer-term viability, set out on pages 17 and 
11 & 12	respectively;	and

•	 	the	 part	 of	 the	 Corporate	 Governance	 Statement	 relating	 to	 the	 Company’s	 compliance	 with	 the	
provisions	of	the	UK	Corporate	Governance	Code	specified	for	our	review.

Under the ISAs (UK and Ireland), we are required to report to you if, in our opinion, information in the 
annual report is:

•	 materially	inconsistent	with	the	information	in	the	audited	financial	statements;	or

•	 	apparently	materially	incorrect	based	on,	or	materially	inconsistent	with,	our	knowledge	of	the	Company	
acquired	in	the	course	of	performing	our	audit;	or

•	 otherwise	misleading.

In particular, we are required to report to you if:

•	 	we	 have	 identified	 any	 inconsistencies	 between	 our	 knowledge	 acquired	 during	 the	 audit	 and	 the	
directors’	statement	that	they	consider	the	annual	report	is	fair,	balanced	and	understandable;	or	

•	 	the	annual	report	does	not	appropriately	disclose	those	matters	that	were	communicated	to	the	audit	
committee which we consider should have been disclosed. 

We	have	nothing	to	report	in	respect	of	the	above.

We	also	confirm	that	we	do	not	have	anything	material	to	add	or	to	draw	attention	to	in	relation	to:

−  the directors’ confirmation in the annual report that they have carried out a robust assessment of 
the principal risks facing the Company including those that would threaten its business model, future 
performance,	solvency	or	liquidity;

−  the disclosures in the annual report that describe those risks and explain how they are being managed 
or	mitigated;

−  the directors’ statement in the financial statements about whether they have considered it appropriate 
to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing them, and their identification of any 
material uncertainties to the Company’s ability to continue to do so over a period of at least twelve 
months	from	the	date	of	approval	of	the	financial	statements;	and
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−  the directors’ explanation in the annual report as to how they have assessed the prospects of the 
Company, over what period they have done so and why they consider that period to be appropriate, 
and their statement as to whether they have a reasonable expectation that the Company will be able 
to continue in operation and meet its liabilities as they fall due over the period of their assessment, 
including any related disclosures drawing attention to any necessary qualifications or assumptions. 

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit

What the directors are responsible for:

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities set out on page 16, the directors are 
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and 
fair view. 

What we are responsible for:

Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with applicable 
law	and	ISAs	(UK	and	Ireland).	Those	standards	require	us	to	comply	with	the	Auditing	Practices	Board’s	
Ethical Standards for Auditors.

Paul Flatley
Senior Statutory Auditor
for	and	on	behalf	of	Grant	Thornton	UK	LLP
Statutory Auditor, Chartered Accountants
London
9 June 2016
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Income Statement

For the year ended 31 March

Note
Revenue 

£’000

2016
Capital 

£’000
Total
£’000

Revenue
£’000

2015 
Capital
£’000

Total
£’000

(Losses)/gains	on	investments 10,14 (2,926) (2,926) – 4,599 4,599
Exchange gains on  
 currency balances 3 3 – 545 545
Income 2 1,400 1,400 1,080 – 1,080
Investment management fees 3 (56) (224) (280) (59) (236) (295)
Other expenses 4 (269) – (269) (272) – (272)
Return on ordinary activities  
 before tax 1,075 (3,147) (2,072) 749 4,908 5,657
Tax on ordinary activities 7 (81) – (81) (79) – (79)
Return for the financial year 994 (3,147) (2,153) 670 4,908 5,578
Return per Ordinary Share 9 4.97p (15.74)p (10.77)p 3.35p 24.54p 27.89p

All revenue and capital items in the above statement derive from continuing operations.

The total columns in this statement represent the Income Statement of the Company. The revenue and 
capital columns are supplementary to this and are prepared under the guidance published by the Association 
of Investment Companies.

As all the gains and losses of the Company have been reflected in the above statement, the return for the 
financial year is also the total comprehensive income for the year.

The notes on pages 40 to 53 form part of these Financial Statements.
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Statement of Financial Position

At 31 March

Notes £’000
2016

£’000 £’000
2015
£’000

Fixed assets
Investments held at fair value through  
 profit or loss 10 40,739 42,311
Current assets
Debtors 11 214 1,080
Cash at bank 1,924 3,086

2,138 4,166
Creditors: amounts falling due  
 within one year 12 (86) (553)
 
Net current assets 2,052 3,613
Net assets 42,791 45,924
 
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital 13 5,000 5,000
Share premium 14,701 14,701

19,701 19,701
Capital reserve 14 22,096 25,463
Revenue reserve 994 760
Equity shareholders’ funds 42,791 45,924
 
Net asset value per Ordinary Share 15 213.96p 229.62p

 
The Financial Statements on pages 36 to 53 were approved by the Board on 9 June 2016 and were signed 
on its behalf by:

Harry Wells 
Chairman 

Registered in England No. 4355437

The notes on pages 40 to 53 form part of these Financial Statements.
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Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 March 2016

Share capital
£’000

Share 
premium 

£’000

Capital
reserve

£’000

Revenue
reserve

£’000
Total
£’000

At 31 March 2015 5,000 14,701 25,463 760 45,924
Return for the financial year – – (3,147) 994 (2,153)
Dividends	paid	(see	note	8) – – (220) (760) (980)
At 31 March 2016 5,000 14,701 22,096 994 42,791

For the year ended 31 March 2015

Share  
capital
£’000

Share 
premium 

£’000

Capital
reserve
£’000

Revenue
reserve
£’000

Total
£’000

At 31 March 2014 5,000 14,701 20,555 1,030 41,286
Return for the financial year – – 4,908 670 5,578
Dividends	paid	(see	note	8) – – – (940) (940)
At 31 March 2015 5,000 14,701 25,463 760 45,924

The notes on pages 40 to 53 form part of these Financial Statements.
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Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 31 March

Notes
2016

£’000
2015
£’000

Cash flows from operating activities
Return for the financial year  (2,153)  5,578 
Adjustments for:
 Taxation    81    79 
 Losses/(gains)	on	investments	held	at	fair	value  2,926 	(4,599)
 Gains on exchange movements (3) 	(545)
 Decrease/(Increase)	in	trade	debtors 12 	(124)
 Increase	(decrease)	in	trade	creditors   1 	(19)
Cash from operations    864      370 
Taxation       (81)      71 
Net cash generated from operating activities       783     441 
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of investments  (10,251) 	(28,319)
Sale of investments    9,280    25,503 
Net cash generated from investing activities     (971) 		(2,816)
Cash flows from financing activities
Equity dividends paid 8     (980) 			(940)
Net cash generated from financing activities     (980) 				(940)
 
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents   (1,168) 	(3,315)
Foreign exchange movements       6      530 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year      3,086     5,871 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year   1,924    3,086 

The notes on pages 40 to 53 form part of these Financial Statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1. Accounting policies 

  The Company is incorporated in England and is an investment company within the meaning of Section 
833 of the Companies Act 2006. The Company’s registered office is Mermaid House, 2 Puddle Dock, 
London, EC4V 3DB.

  A summary of the principal accounting policies, all of which have been applied consistently throughout 
the year is set out below: 

 (a) Basis of accounting

  The accounts are prepared on the historical cost basis of accounting, except for the measurement at 
fair value of investments. The Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with applicable 
United	 Kingdom	 accounting	 practices,	 including	 Financial	 Reporting	 Standard	 102	 –	 ‘The	 Financial	
Reporting	Standard	applicable	in	the	United	Kingdom	and	Republic	of	Ireland’	(‘FRS	102’)	and	with	the	
AIC Statement of Recommended Practice ‘Financial Statements of Investment Trust Companies and 
Venture Capital Trusts’ issued in November 2014.

 The impact of new accounting standards on the financial statements are shown in note 20.

	 	There	are	no	areas	of	judgement	and	estimation	over	and	above	going	concern	discussed	in	note	1(k).	
All of the Company’s operations are of a continuing nature.

 (b) Valuation of investments

  Sections 11 and 12 of the Financial Reporting Standard 102 have been adopted in preparation of these 
Financial Statements.

	 	When	a	purchase	or	sale	is	made	under	a	contract,	the	terms	of	which	require	delivery	within	the	time	
frame of the relevant market, the investments concerned are recognised or derecognised on the trade date.

  The Company’s investments are recognised on the trade date and are initially measured at fair value. 
Investments are measured at subsequent reporting dates at fair value, and changes in fair value are 
included in the Income Statement as a capital item. For listed investments, fair value is deemed to be 
either the bid price or the last traded price, depending on the convention of the exchange on which the 
investment is quoted.

	 	Unquoted	 investments	 are	 valued	 by	 the	 Directors	 at	 fair	 value.	 The	 Company	 held	 no	 unquoted	
investments at the year end.

 (c) Reporting currency

  The accounts are presented in Sterling which is the functional currency of the Company. Sterling is the 
reference	currency	for	this	UK	registered	and	listed	company.

 (d) Income

  Dividends are credited to the revenue account on an ex-dividend basis or, if later, as soon as entitlement 
has been established. The Company owns no fixed interest investments. The fixed return on a debt 
security would be recognised and accrued on a time apportionment basis so as to reflect the effective 
interest rate on the debt security.

 Bank and deposit interest is accounted for on an accruals basis.
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 (e) Dividends 

  Dividends paid by the Company are accounted for in the Financial Statements in respect of the period 
in which they are paid, in the case of interim dividends, or when they are approved by shareholders for 
final dividends.

 (f) Expenses

   All expenses are accounted for on an accruals basis. Expenses are recognised through the Income 
Statement as revenue items except as follows:

	 –		 	the	investment	management	fee	has	been	allocated	80%	to	capital	reserve	and	20%	to	the	revenue	
account within the Income Statement reflecting the Board’s expected long-term split of returns in 
the	form	of	capital	gains	and	income	respectively	from	the	investment	portfolio;	

 –   any investment management performance fees are allocated to the capital reserve within the  
Income	Statement;

 –   expenses which are incidental to the sale of an investment are deducted from the proceeds of the 
sale	of	that	investment;

 –   any other expenses incurred in connection with the acquisition or disposal of an investment are 
allocated to capital reserve – through	the	Income	Statement;	

	 –		 finance	costs	are	accounted	for	on	an	accruals	basis	using	the	effective	interest	method;	and	

 –   finance costs of debt in so far as they relate to the financing of the Company’s investments have 
been	allocated	80%	to	the	capital	 reserve	and	20%	to	the	revenue	account	within	the	 Income	
Statement.

 (g) Taxation

  Deferred taxation is provided on all differences which have originated but not reversed by the Statement 
of Financial Position date, calculated at the rate at which it is anticipated the timing differences will 
reverse. Deferred tax assets are recognised only when, on the basis of available evidence, it is more 
likely than not that there will be taxable profits in the future against which the deferred tax asset can be 
offset.

 (h) Foreign currency

  Transactions and investment income denominated in foreign currencies are recorded in Sterling at actual 
exchange rates at the date of the transaction or receipt. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated 
in foreign currencies at the year end are recorded in Sterling at the rates of exchange prevailing at 
the year end. Any gain or loss arising from a change in exchange rates, subsequent to the date of the 
transaction, is included as an exchange gain or loss in the capital or revenue column of the Income 
Statement, depending on whether the gain or loss is of a capital or revenue nature respectively. 

  The value of investments in foreign currencies is expressed in Sterling at the rates of exchange prevailing 
at the year end. Surpluses and deficits arising from conversion at this rate of exchange are included as 
an exchange gain or loss in the capital column of the Income Statement and taken to the capital reserve.
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued

1. Accounting policies continued 

 (i) Capital reserve 

 The following are taken to this reserve:

 Investment holding gains:

 –  Increase and decrease in the valuation of investments held at the year end 

 Other:

	 –		 Gains	and	losses	on	the	disposal	of	investments;	
	 –		 Exchange	differences	of	a	capital	nature;	
 –   Expenses, together with the related taxation effect, allocated to this reserve in accordance with the 

above policies.

 (j) Distributable reserves 

 Distributable reserves comprise revenue reserves and the capital reserve.

 (k) Going concern

  The Financial Statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. The following is a summary of 
the Board’s assessment of the going concern status of the Company:

 Operational resources

  The majority of the net assets of the Company are securities which are traded on recognised stock 
exchanges. After considering the Company’s current financial resources, the Directors are satisfied that 
its resources are adequate for continuing in business for the foreseeable future.

 Continuation vote

  The Company will put forward a resolution for its continuation at the Annual General Meeting. 
The Directors recommend that shareholders vote in favour of the resolution.

2. Income
2016

£’000
2015 
£’000

Income from investments
Overseas dividends 1,162 925
UK	dividends 238 255

1,400 1,080
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3. Investment management fees

Revenue
£’000

2016
Capital

£’000
Total
£’000

Revenue
£’000

2015
Capital
£’000

Total
£’000

Investment  
management fees 56 224 280 59 236 295

  For the avoidance of double charging investment management fees, the Investment Manager has 
agreed to rebate any periodic management fee that it receives from the Company by the amount of fees 
receivable by it from Blackfriars Asset Management Limited managed products	(“Blackfriars	products”)	
in respect of the Company’s investments in those funds. The Investment Manager has agreed that any 
performance fees that it earns from Blackfriars products in respect of the Company’s investment in 
those funds will be rebated to the Company. Similar arrangements were in place when the Company’s 
Investment Manager was BDT Invest LLP.

 As at 31 March 2016 the Company had investments in the following Blackfriars products:

	 	400,000	shares	in	Blackfriars	Oriental	Focus	Fund	‘B’	(formerly	BDT	Invest	Oriental	Focus	Fund	‘B’)	at	a	
total cost of £4,785,000 and a valuation at 31 March 2016 of £5,833,000.

 Details of the investment management agreement are disclosed in note 6.

4. Other expenses
2016

£’000
2015 
£’000

Administration fees 60 60
Directors’	fees	(see	note	5) 69 68
Auditor’s remuneration for:
– audit of the Company’s accounts 24 23
– taxation compliance services 8 6
Overseas	tax	compliance	services* 24 14
Custodian fees 25 23
Legal fees – 9
Other expenses 59 69

269 272

	 *	These	services	are	not	provided	by	the	Company’s	Auditor.



Job No: 26282 Proof Event: 7 Black Line Level: 3 Park Communications Ltd Alpine Way London E6 6LA

Customer: Cavendish Project Title: Establishment Investment Trust Annual Report 2016 T: 0207 055 6500 F: 020 7055 6600

The Establishment Investment Trust plc Annual Report 31 March 2016

Page 44

Notes to the Financial Statements continued

5. Directors’ emoluments
2016

£’000
2015 
£’000

Directors’ fees 69 68
Employer’s National Insurance 5 4

74 72

  The Chairman and Directors receive emoluments of £20,000 and £15,000 per annum respectively, and 
the	Chairman	of	the	Audit	Committee	receives	a	further	£2,500	per	annum.	Tom	Waring	has	waived	
his entitlement to Directors’ fees equivalent to £15,000 per annum since the appointment of Blackfriars 
Asset Management Limited as Investment Manager to the Company.

 There are no pension contributions payable to the Directors.

6. Disclosure of interests

 Investment management

  In accordance with an investment management agreement between the Company and Blackfriars Asset 
Management	Limited	(“Blackfriars”)	dated	8	July	2014	Blackfriars	has	provided	investment	management	
services to the Company with effect from 15 July 2014 for which Blackfriars receives an annual fee of 
1%	 of	 the	 Adjusted	 Market	 Capitalisation	 of	 the	 Company	 calculated	 on	 the	 last	 business	 day	 of	
each calendar month and payable in arrears in respect of each calendar month. The Adjusted Market 
Capitalisation per Share on the last business day of any calendar month is the average of the mid-market 
prices of a Share on each business day in such calendar month. The Adjusted Market Capitalisation of 
the Company on the last business day of any calendar month is the Adjusted Market Capitalisation per 
Share on that day multiplied by the number of Shares in issue on that day. 

 No performance fee is in place in the investment management agreement with Blackfriars.

  Blackfriars’ appointment as Investment Manager is subject to termination by the Company on six months’ 
notice.

  The amount charged for investment management fees during the year is shown in note 3 and £21,221 
(2015:	£25,550)	of	the	fee	for	the	current year was outstanding as a creditor as at the Statement of 
Financial Position date. 

 Company Secretary and Administrator 

	 	Cavendish	 Administration	 Limited	 (“Cavendish”)	 has	 been	 appointed	 as	 Company	 Secretary	 and	
Administrator to the Company. Cavendish receives a fee payable monthly at a rate of one twelfth of 
£30,000	plus	one	twelfth	of	0.085%	of	the	Company’s	market	capitalisation	at	the	end	of	each	month	
subject to a minimum monthly fee of £5,000.
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7. Taxation

 The tax charge on the profit on ordinary activities for the year was as follows:

Revenue
£’000

2016
Capital

£’000
Total
£’000

Revenue
£’000

2015
Capital
£’000

Total
£’000

Overseas tax suffered 81 – 81 79 – 79

	 	The	current	taxation	charge	for	the	year	is	different	from	the	standard	rate	of	corporation	tax	in	the	UK	
of	20%	(2015:	21%).	The	differences	are	explained	below.

2016
£’000

2015 
£’000

Net return on ordinary activities (2,072) 5,657
Theoretical	tax	at	UK	corporation	tax	rate	of	20%	(2015:	21%) (414) 1,188
Effects of:
– Capital gains not subject to corporation tax 585 (1,080)
–	UK	dividends	which	are	not	taxable (48) (33)
– Overseas dividends which are not taxable (232) (194)
– Irrecoverable overseas tax 81 79
– Movement in excess expenses 109 119
Actual current tax charge 81 79

  The Company is an Investment Trust and, whilst it obtains exemption under section 1159 of the 
Corporation	Tax	Act	2010,	is	not	subject	to	UK	taxation	on	capital	gains.

  In the opinion of the Directors the Company has complied with the requirements of section 1159 of the 
Corporation Tax Act 2010.

 Factors that may affect future tax charges 

	 	The	 Company	 has	 not	 recognised	 a	 deferred	 tax	 asset	 of	 £743,000	 (2015:	 £633,000)	 arising	 from	
management expenses exceeding taxable income. These expenses could only be utilised if the Company 
were	to	generate	taxable	profits	which	are	subject	to	UK	corporation	tax	in	the	future.

8. Dividends

 (i) Paid during the financial year

2016
£’000

2015 
£’000

Final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2015 of 3.0p 
	 per	Ordinary	Share	(2014:	2.8p)	

 
600 560

Interim dividend for the year ended 31 March 2016 of 1.9p 
	 per	Ordinary	Share	(2015:	1.9p) 380 380

980 940
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 Notes to the Financial Statements continued

8. Dividends continued

 (ii) Payable during the financial year

  The total dividends payable in respect of the financial year, which form the basis for complying with 
section 1159 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010 are set out below:

Revenue 
£’000

2016
Capital 

£’000
Total 
£’000

Revenue 
£’000

2015
Capital 
£’000

Total 
£’000

Interim dividend for 
 the year ended  
 31 March 2016 of 
 1.9p per Ordinary  
	 Share	(2015:	1.9p) 160 220 380 380 – 380
Proposed final  
 dividend for the  
 year ended  
 31 March 2016 of  
 3.2p per Ordinary  
	 Share	(2015:	3.0p) 640 – 640 600 – 600
Proposed special  
 dividend for the  
 year ended  
 31 March 2016 of  
 3.9p per Ordinary  
	 Share	(2015:	nil) – 780 780 – – –

800 1,000 1,800 980 – 980

9. Return per Ordinary Share

Revenue
2016

Capital Total Revenue
2015

Capital Total

Return on ordinary 
 activities after tax £994,000 £(3,147,000) £(2,153,000) £670,000 £4,908,000 £5,578,000
Weighted	average	
 number of 
 shares in issue 20,000,000 20,000,000 20,000,000 20,000,000 20,000,000 20,000,000
Return per Ordinary 
 Share 4.97p (15.74)p (10.77)p 3.35p 24.54p 27.89p



Job No: 26282 Proof Event: 7 Black Line Level: 3 Park Communications Ltd Alpine Way London E6 6LA

Customer: Cavendish Project Title: Establishment Investment Trust Annual Report 2016 T: 0207 055 6500 F: 020 7055 6600

Annual Report 31 March 2016 The Establishment Investment Trust plc

Page 47

FIN
A

N
C

IA
LS

10. Investments held at fair value through profit or loss

2016
£’000

2015 
£’000

Investments listed on a recognised investment 
exchange 40,739 42,311

Opening book cost 36,690 31,531
Opening investment holding gains 5,621 3,806
Opening valuation 42,311 35,337
Movements in year:
Purchases at cost 9,783 28,787
Sales proceeds (8,429) (26,412)
(Losses)/gains	on	sales (1,231) 2,784
(Decrease)/increase	in	investment	holding	 
gains in the year (1,695) 1,815
Total	(losses)/gains (2,926) 4,599
Closing valuation 40,739 42,311
Closing book cost 36,813 36,690
Closing investment holding gains 3,926 5,621
Total 40,739 42,311

  Investment transaction costs on purchases and sales of investments during the year to 31 March 2016 
amounted	to	£31,000	and	£37,000	respectively	(2015:	£124,000	and	£94,000	respectively).

 Significant holdings

  Included in the above are the following investments in investment funds in which the Company has an 
interest	of	10%	or	more	of	the	nominal	value	of	the	shares	of	that	class	in	the	investee	company	as	at	
31 March 2016.

Investment

Country of 
registration  
and listing Class of capital

% of  
class held

% of 
fund held

Blackfriars Oriental Focus Fund
Republic of 

Ireland ‘B’	US	Dollar 59% 33%

  The Company has arrangements in place with the Investment Manager to avoid double charging of fees 
and	expenses	on	investments	made	in	other	products	managed	by	the	Investment	Manager	(see	note	3).

11. Debtors
2016

£’000
2015 
£’000

VAT recoverable 4 –
Prepayments and accrued income 210 229
Sales for future settlement – 851

214 1,018
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued

12. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
2016

£’000
2015 
£’000

Accrued expenses and deferred income 86 85
Purchases for future settlement – 468

86 553

13. Share capital
Number of 

shares 
000’s

2016
£’000

Number of  
shares 
000’s

2015 
£’000

Authorised: Ordinary Shares  
 of 25p each 30,000 7,500 30,000 7,500
Issued and fully paid: Ordinary 
 Shares of 25p each 20,000 5,000 20,000 5,000

14. Capital reserve

 Disposal of investments
2016

£’000
2015 
£’000

Opening balance 19,842 16,749
(Losses)/gains	on	disposal	of	investments (1,231) 2,784
Net foreign exchange gain 3 545
Investment management fees charged to capital (224) (236)
Dividends paid in year (220) –
Balance at 31 March 18,170 19,842

 Investments held
2016

£’000
2015 
£’000

Opening balance 5,621 3,806
Movement on valuation of investments held (1,695) 1,815
Balance at 31 March 3,926 5,621

Capital reserve 22,316 25,463

 Gains/(losses) on investments in year per Income Statement
2016

£’000
2015 
£’000

(Losses)/gains	on	disposal	of	investments	 (1,231) 2,784

Movement on valuation of investments held (1,695) 1,815
(Losses)/gains	on	investments (2,926) 4,599
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15. Net asset value per share

The net asset value per Ordinary Share and the net asset value at the year end were as follows:

Net asset value per share Net asset value

2016
pence

2015
pence

2016
£’000

2015 
£’000

213.96 229.62 42,791 45,924

The movements during the year of the assets attributable to each Ordinary Share were as follows:

Ordinary 
Shares 

£’000

Total net assets attributable at beginning of year 45,924
Total return for the year (2,153)
Dividends paid during the year (980)
Total net assets attributable at end of year 42,791

The	net	asset	value	per	Ordinary	Share	is	based	on	net	assets	of	£42,791,000	(2015:	£45,924,000)	and	
on	20,000,000	Ordinary	Shares	(2015:	20,000,000)	being	the	number	of	Ordinary	Shares	in	issue	at	the	
financial year end.

16. Financial instruments and capital disclosures

 Risk management policies and procedures 

  The investment objective of the Company is to achieve long-term capital growth from a managed 
international portfolio of securities. The preservation of capital is of primary importance to the 
investment objective. In pursuit of this objective, the Company may be exposed to various forms of risk, 
as described below. 

	 	The	Board	has	policies	on	diversification	of	investment,	gearing	(bank	borrowing),	dividends	and	risk	
management, which it reviews in accordance with prevailing market conditions. Current policies are set 
out in the Strategic Report. The Company’s assets are managed so as to diversify both the market risk 
(including	price	risk)	and	liquidity	risk	that	occurs	in	any	equity	portfolio	and	the	Board	monitors	this	
process	(see	Strategic	Report).	
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued

16. Financial instruments and capital disclosures continued

The Board and its Investment Manager consider and review the risks inherent in managing the Company’s 
assets which are detailed below:

 Currency exposure at 31 March 2016 

Sterling 
£’000

US
Dollar 
£’000

HK
Dollar
£’000

Thai
Baht

£’000

Korean 
Won

£’000

Indian
Rupee
£’000

Taiwan 
Dollar
£’000

Japan
Yen

£’000
Other
£’000

Total
£’000

Debtors 214 – – – – – – – – 214
Cash at bank 112 1,067 – – – – 745 – – 1,924
Creditors (86) – – – – – – – – (86)

Foreign currency 
 exposure on net 
 monetary items 240 1,067 – – – – 745 – – 2,052
Equities held at fair 
 value through 
 profit or loss 8,594 5,833 5,834 3,615 3,367 3,664 2,235 2,663 4,934 40,739
Total net foreign 
 currency
 exposure 8,834 6,900 5,834 3,615 3,367 3,664 2,980 2,663 4,934 42,791

  Currency exposure at 31 March 2015 

Sterling 
£’000

US
Dollar 
£’000

HK
Dollar
£’000

Thai
Baht

£’000

Indian
Rupee
£’000

Malay
Ringgit

£’000

Taiwan 
Dollar
£’000

Japan
Yen

£’000
Other
£’000

Total
£’000

Debtors 229 – – – – – – 851 – 1,080
Cash at bank 41 2,046 – – – – 985 – 14 3,086
Creditors (85) – – – – – – (468) – (553)

Foreign currency 
 exposure on net 
 monetary items 185 2,046 – – – – 985 383 14 3,613
Equities held at fair 
 value through 
 profit or loss 8,134 6,521 4,393 4,200 3,896 3,416 2,411 2,887 6,453 42,311
Total net foreign 
 currency
 exposure 8,319 8,567 4,393 4,200 3,896 3,416 3,396 3,270 6,467 45,924

	 	Over	the	year	Sterling	weakened	against	the	US	Dollar	by	3.03%	(2015:	weakened	11.01%),	weakened	
against	the	Hong	Kong	Dollar	by	2.99%	(2015:	weakened	11.06%)	and	strengthened	against	the	Thai	
Baht	by	4.61%	(2015:	weakened	10.01%).	

	 	A	5%	rise	or	decline	of	Sterling	against	foreign	currency	denominated	(i.e.	non-Sterling)	assets	held	
at	the	year	end	would	have	decreased/increased	the	net	asset	value	by	£1,698,000	or	3.97%	of	net	
asset	value	(2015:	£1,880,000	or	4.09%	of	net	asset	value).	It	is	not	practical	to	estimate	the	impact	
on the income statement since the profit and loss is the net result of all the transactions in the portfolio 
throughout the year.
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 Interest rate risk

  The Company is exposed to a very low level of interest rate risk through its cash deposits with The 
Northern	Trust	Company.	The	Company	had	no	borrowings	at	the	year	end	(2015:	nil)	and	therefore	
sensitivity analysis to changes in LIBOR are not applicable.

 Equity price risk

	 	If	 the	 fair	 value	of	 the	Company’s	 investments	at	 the	year	end	 increased/decreased	by	10%	then	 it	
would	have	the	effect	of	£4,074,000	or	20.37	pence	per	Ordinary	Share	(2015:	£4,231,000	or	21.16	
pence	per	Ordinary	Share)	on	the	capital	return.

 Liquidity risk

  Liquidity risk is generally not significant in normal market conditions as the majority of the Company’s 
investments are listed on recognised stock exchanges and for the most part readily realisable securities 
which can be sold easily to meet funding commitments if necessary. Short-term flexibility may be 
achieved by the use of bank overdrafts.

 Credit risk

  Credit risk is mitigated by diversifying the counterparties through whom the Investment Manager 
conducts investment transactions. The credit-standing of all counterparties is reviewed periodically with 
limits set on amounts due from any one broker.

  Cash is only held at banks and in money market funds that have been identified by the Board as 
reputable and of high credit quality. Northern Trust has a short-term deposit rating of P-1 with Moody’s 
and A-1+ with S&P. No cash was held in money market funds during the years ended 31 March 2016 
and 31 March 2015.

	 	The	total	credit	exposure	(representing	current	assets)	of	the	Company	at	the	year	end	as	shown	on	the	
Statement	of	Financial	Position	was	£2,138,000	(2015:	£4,166,000).

 Valuation of financial instruments 

	 	FRS	102	(see	note	13)	requires	the	classification	of	financial	instruments	to	be	valued	by	reference	to	the	
source of inputs used to derive the fair value. The classifications and their descriptions are below:

 Level a

  The best evidence of fair value is a quoted price for an identical asset in an active market. Quoted in an 
active market in this context means quoted prices that are readily and regularly available and that those 
prices reflect actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis. The quoted 
price is usually the current bid price.

 Level b

	 	When	quoted	prices	are	unavailable,	the	price	of	a	recent	transaction	for	an	 identical	asset	provides	
evidence of fair value as long as there has not been a significant change in economic circumstances 
or a significant lapse of time since the transaction took place. If the entity can demonstrate that the 
last	transaction	price	is	not	a	good	estimate	of	fair	value	(e.g. because it reflects the amount that an 
entity	would	receive	or	pay	in	a	forced	transaction,	involuntary	liquidation	or	distress	sale),	that	price	is	
adjusted.
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued

16. Financial instruments and capital disclosures continued

 Level c

  If the market for the asset is not active and recent transactions of an identical asset on their own are 
not a good estimate of fair value, an entity estimates the fair value by using a valuation technique. The 
objective of using a valuation technique is to estimate what the transaction price would have been on 
the measurement date in an arm’s length exchange motivated by normal business considerations.

 The classification of the Company’s investments held at fair value is detailed in the table below:

31 March 2016 31 March 2015

Level a 
£’000

Level b
£’000

Level c
£’000

Total
£’000

Level a 
£’000

Level b 
£’000

Level c 
£’000

Total 
£’000

Investments 40,739 – – 40,739 42,311 – – 42,311

 There were no transfers between Levels a and b during the year. 

	 	The	valuation	techniques	used	by	the	Company	are	explained	in	the	accounting	policies	note	1(b)	on	
page 40. 

 Capital management policies and procedures

  The capital managed by the Company represents only the Equity shareholders’ funds of £42,791,000 
(2015:	£45,924,000).

 The Company currently has no borrowings.

  The Company’s objectives, policies and procedures for managing capital are set out in the share capital 
section of the Directors’ Report on pages 14 and 15. 

 The use of distributable reserves is disclosed in note 21.

17. Guarantees, financial commitments and contingent liabilities

	 There	were	no	financial	commitments	outstanding	at	the	year	end	(2015:	none).	

	 There	were	no	contingent	liabilities	outstanding	at	the	year	end	(2015:	none).	

18. Ongoing charges
2016 2015

£’000
% of average 

net assets £’000
% of average net 

assets

Total operating expenses 549 1.3 567 1.3

	 	The	above	ongoing	charges	figure	of	1.3%	is	based	on	an	average	net	assets	figure	for	the	financial	year	
of	£41,942,000	(2015:	£43,515,000).
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19. Related party disclosure

	 	Blackfriars	 Asset	 Management	 Limited	 (“Blackfriars”)	 acts	 as	 Investment	 Manager	 to	 the	 Company.	
The fees paid to Blackfriars are disclosed in note 3 and further details of the relationship between the 
Company and Blackfriars are set out in note 6.

  Full details of Directors’ interests are set out in the Directors’ Remuneration Implementation Report on 
page 27.	Tom	Waring	is	a	director	of	Blackfriars.

20. Impact of new accounting standards

  The financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2016 have been prepared for the first time under 
FRS 102 The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland which is applicable 
to accounting periods beginning on, or after, 1 January 2015. This does not have any significant impact 
on the financial statements other than minor changes to the presentation and terminology used in 
the accounts. The Company’s financial position has not been affected and no transitional adjustments 
have been made in these financial statements. There have been no material changes to the Company’s 
accounting policies.

  The financial performance of the Company and the Company’s equity for the year ended 31 March 
2015 and the year ended 31 March 2016 have not been affected by the introduction of the above 
standard.

21. Distributable reserves

  The Company’s distributable reserves consist of the capital reserve and revenue reserve. Dividends may 
be paid from either of these reserves.
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Notice of Annual General Meeting

Notice is hereby given that the Annual General Meeting of The Establishment Investment Trust plc will be 
held	at	the	offices	of	Blackfriars	Asset	Management	Limited,	9	Cloak	Lane,	London,	EC4R	2RU	on	12	July	
2016 at 12 noon for the following purposes:

Ordinary Business

1.  To receive and adopt the Report of the Directors and the audited Financial Statements for the year 
ended 31 March 2016. 

2. To approve the Directors’ Remuneration Implementation Report included in the Annual Report.

3. To approve a final dividend of 3.2p per Ordinary Share for the year ended 31 March 2016. 

4. To approve a special dividend of 3.9p per Ordinary Share for the year ended 31 March 2016.

5.	 To	re-elect	Tom	Waring	as	a	Director	of	the	Company.	

6.	 To	re-elect	Harry	Wells	as	a	Director	of	the	Company.	

7.  To approve the continuation of the Company as an investment trust for a further three year period to 
the AGM to be held in 2019.

8.	 To	re-appoint	Grant	Thornton	UK	LLP	as	Independent	Auditor	to	the	Company.

9.  To authorise the Directors to fix the remuneration of the Auditor until the conclusion of the next Annual 
General Meeting of the Company. 

9 June 2016

By order of the Board
Anthony Lee
For and on behalf of
Cavendish Administration Limited
Company Secretary
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Notes to the Notice of Annual General Meeting
1)	 	This	Annual	Report	and	Financial	Statements	is	sent	to	holders	of	Ordinary	shares,	all	of	whom	are	entitled	to	attend,	speak	and	

vote at the above mentioned Annual	General	Meeting	(“AGM”).	

2)	 	Members	entitled	to	attend	and	vote	at	the	AGM	are	also	entitled	to	appoint	one	or	more	proxies	to	exercise	all	or	any	of	their	
rights	to	attend	and	speak	and	vote	on	their	behalf.	Where	multiple	proxies	are	appointed	they	must	be	appointed	to	exercise	the	
rights in relation to different Ordinary shares. Proxies need not be members of the Company. 

3)	 	A	form	of	proxy	is	sent	to	members	with	the	Annual	Report	and	Financial	Statements.	To	be	valid	the	form	of	proxy	and	any	power	
of	attorney	or	other	authority	(if	any)	under	which	it	is	signed	(or	a	notarially	certified	copy	of	that	power	of	attorney	or	authority)	
must be sent to the Company’s registrar – Capita Asset Services, PXS 1,	34	Beckenham	Road,	Beckenham,	Kent	BR3	4ZF – so as to 
arrive	no	later	than	12	noon	on	10	July	2016.	Where	multiple	proxies	are	being	appointed	the	form	of	proxy	should	be	copied	and	
a separate one completed for each proxy identifying, that the form of proxy is a multiple form and the different Ordinary shares 
that	each	proxy	represents.	Completion	and	return	of	form(s)	of	proxy	will	not	preclude	a	member	from	attending,	speaking	and	
voting in person at the AGM. 

4)	 	CREST	members	who	wish	to	appoint	a	proxy	or	proxies	by	utilising	the	CREST	electronic	proxy	appointment	service	may	do	so	for	
the	meeting	and	any	adjournment(s)	thereof	by	utilising	the	procedures	described	in	the	CREST	Manual.	CREST	personal	members	
or	other	CREST	sponsored	members,	and	those	CREST	members	who	have	appointed	a	voting	service	provider(s),	should	refer	to	
their	CREST	sponsor	or	voting	service	provider(s),	who	will	be	able	to	take	the	appropriate	action	on	their	behalf.	

5)	 	In	order	 for	any	proxy	appointment	made	by	means	of	CREST	 to	be	valid,	 the	appropriate	CREST	message	 (a	“CREST	Proxy	
Instruction”)	must	be	properly	authenticated	in	accordance	with	Euroclear	UK	&	Ireland	Limited’s	(“EUI”)	specifications	and	must	
contain the information required for such instructions, as described in the CREST Manual. The message must be transmitted so as 
to be received by the issuer’s agent,	Capita	Registrars	(ID:	RA10), by 12 noon on 10 July 2016. In this respect the time of receipt 
will	be	taken	to	be	the	time	(as	determined	by	the	timestamp	applied	to	the	message	by	the	CREST	Applications	Host)	at which 
the issuer’s agent is able to retrieve the message in the manner prescribed by CREST. 

6)	 	CREST	members	and,	where	applicable,	their	CREST	sponsors	or	voting	service	providers	should	note	that	EUI	does	not	make	
available special procedures in CREST for any particular message. Normal system timings and limitations will therefore apply in 
relation to the input of CREST Proxy Instructions. It is the responsibility of the CREST member concerned to take such action 
as shall be necessary to ensure that a message is transmitted by means of the CREST system by the particular time the CREST 
member requires. 

7)	 	The	Company	may	treat	as	invalid	a	CREST	Proxy	Instruction	in	the	circumstances	set	out	in	Regulation	35(5)(a)	of	the	Uncertificated	
Securities Regulations 2001. 

8)	 	A	person	who	is	not	a	member	of	the	Company	and	receives	this	notice	of	meeting	as	a	person	nominated	by	a	member	to	enjoy	
information	rights	under	section	146	of	the	Companies	Act	2006	(“Act”)	does	not	have	a	right	to	appoint	proxies.	However,	if	
a nominated person has an agreement with the member who nominated them, the nominated person may have a right to be 
appointed as a proxy or a right to instruct the member as to the exercise of voting rights at the AGM. 

9)	 	Shareholders	entered	on	the	Register	of	Members	of	the	Company	at	the	close	of	business	on	10 July 2016, or close of business 
on the day two days prior to the time of an adjourned meeting, shall be entitled to attend and vote at the AGM. Any changes to 
the Register of Members after such dates shall be disregarded in determining the rights of any Shareholders to attend and vote 
at the AGM. 

10)	 	Under	section	319(A)	of	the	Act,	the	Company	must	cause	to	be	answered	any	question	relating	to	the	business	being	dealt	with	
at the AGM put by a member attending the AGM unless answering the question would interfere unduly with the preparation 
for the meeting, would involve the disclosure of confidential information, an answer has already been given on a website, or is 
undesirable in the interests of the Company or the good order of the AGM. 

11)	 	Members	 may	 not	 use	 any	 electronic	 address	 provided	 in	 this	 notice	 or	 any	 related	 document(s)	 to	 communicate	 with	 the	
Company for any purpose other than as specifically stated. 

12)	 	As	at	8 June 2016, the latest practicable date prior to the publication of this notice, the Company’s issued share capital comprised 
20,000,000 Ordinary shares of 25p each, of which none are held in treasury. Each Ordinary share carries a right to one vote 
at general meetings of the Company and accordingly the total number of voting rights in the Company as at 8 June 2016 is 
20,000,000. 

13)	 	Information	regarding	the	AGM,	including	the	information	required	by	section	311A	of	the	Act,	can	be	found	on	the	Company’s	
web-pages by following the appropriate links at www.blackfriarsam.com

14)	 No	Director	has	a	service	agreement	with	the	Company.	

15)	 	Member(s)	have	a	right	in	accordance	with	section	388	of	the	Act	to	require	the	Company	to	give	to	members	of	the	Company	
entitled	to	receive	the	above	notice	of	meeting,	notice	of	any	resolution	which	they	may	properly	move	at	the	meeting.	Under	
section	338A	of	the	Act	member(s)	may	request	the	Company	to	include	in	the	business	to	be	dealt	with	at	the	meeting	any	
matter, other than a proposed resolution, which may be properly included in that business. 

16)	 	Members	may	require	the	Company,	under	section	527	of	the	Act,	to	publish	on	a	website	a	statement	setting	out	any	matter	
relating to the audit of the Company’s Accounts being laid before the meeting, including the Auditor’s report and the conduct of 
the	audit	at	the	Company’s	expense.	Where	the	Company	is	required	to	place	such	a	statement	on	a	website	it	must	forward	the	
statement to the Company’s Auditor not later than the time when it makes the statement available on that website, and include 
the statement in the business to be dealt with at the meeting. 
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Company Information

Directors

Harry	Wells	(Chairman)
Gregory Shenkman
Susan Thornton
Tom	Waring
Jim	Ryall	(appointed	2	June	2015)
Sir	David	Cooksey	(retired	7	July	2015)

Corporate Secretary and Registered Office

Cavendish Administration Limited* 
Mermaid House
2 Puddle Dock
London EC4V 3DB
Tel: 020 7653 9690
www.cavendishadmin.com

Registrars

Capita Registrars
The Registry
34 Beckenham Road
Beckenham
Kent	BR3	4TU

Broker

J.P. Morgan Cazenove
25 Bank Street
Canary	Wharf
London E14 5JP

 
 
Investment Manager

Blackfriars Asset Management Limited
9 Cloak Lane
London	EC4R	2RU
Tel: 020 7332 2270
www.blackfriarsam.com

Solicitors

Stephenson Harwood
1 Finsbury Circus
London EC2M 7SH

Registered Auditor

Grant	Thornton	UK	LLP
30 Finsbury Square
London	EC2P	2YU

Custodian

The Northern Trust Company
50 Bank Street
Canary	Wharf
London E14 5NT

*		With	effect	from 1 July 2016, PraxisIFM	Fund	Services	(UK)	Limited will be appointed as the Company’s 
Corporate Secretary, having acquired Cavendish Administration Limited.

Shareholder Relations

The price of the Company’s Ordinary Shares is listed daily in the Financial Times.

The Company’s web pages can be accessed by logging on to: www.blackfriarsam.com

Individual Savings Account (‘ISA’)

The Company’s shares are eligible to be held in an ISA account subject to HM Revenue & Customs’ limits.

Registered in England No. 4355437

P R E M I U M

L I S T E D
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Form of Proxy

The Establishment Investment Trust plc
I/We	 _____________________________________________________________________________________

of  _______________________________________________________________________________________

(BLOCK	CAPITALS	PLEASE)

being	 (a)	 member(s)	 of	 The	 Establishment	 Investment	 Trust	 plc	 appoint	 the	 chairman	 of	 the	 meeting	

or (see note 1) _____________________________________________________________________________

of ________________________________________________________________________________________

as my/our proxy to attend and vote for me/us and on my/our behalf at the Annual General Meeting of the 
Company to be held at the offices of Blackfriars Asset Management Limited, 9 Cloak Lane, London, EC4R 
2RU	on	12	July	2016	at	12	noon	and	at	any	adjournment	thereof.

Please indicate with an X in the spaces provided how you wish your votes to be cast on the resolutions specified.

Resolution For Against Withheld Discretionary

1.  To receive and adopt the Report of the Directors and the 
audited Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 
2016.

2.  To approve the Directors’ Remuneration Implementation 
Report included in the Annual Report.

3.  To declare a final dividend of 3.2p per Ordinary Share.

4. To declare a special dividend of 3.9p per Ordinary Share.

5.	 To	re-elect	Tom	Waring	as	a	Director	of	the	Company.	

6.	 	To	re-elect	Harry	Wells	as	a	Director	of	the	Company.	

7.  To approve the continuation of the Company as an 
investment trust for a further three year period. 

8.	 	To	re-appoint	Grant	Thornton	UK	LLP	as	Independent	
Auditor to the Company.

9.  To authorise the Directors to fix the remuneration of the 
Auditor until the conclusion of the next Annual General 
Meeting of the Company.

Subject to any voting instructions so given, the proxy will vote, or may abstain from voting, on any resolution 
as he may think fit.

Signature .............................................................. Dated this ........................ day of ........................ 2016

NOTES

1.  If you so desire you may delete the words ’chairman of the meeting’ and insert the name of your own choice of proxy, who need 
not be a member of the Company. Please initial such alteration.

2.  The proxy form must be lodged at the Company’s registrars, Capita Asset Services, PXS 1,	34	Beckenham	Road,	Beckenham.	Kent	
BR3 4ZF, not less than 48 hours before the time fixed for the meeting. In default the proxy cannot be treated as valid.

3.  Alternatively, in the case of CREST members, voting may be effected by using the CREST electronic proxy appointment service. 
CREST members who wish to utilise the CREST service may do so by following the procedures described in the CREST Manual. 
CREST Personal Members or other CREST sponsored members, and those CREST members who have appointed a voting service 
provider, should refer to their CREST sponsor or voting service provider, who will be able to take the appropriate action on 
their behalf. In order for a proxy appointment made by means of CREST to be valid, the appropriate CREST message must be 
transmitted	so	as	to	be	received	by	the	Company’s	agent,	Capita	Registrars	 (whose	CREST	 ID	 is	RA10)	by	the	specified latest 
time	for	receipt	of	proxy	appointments.	For	this	purpose,	the	time	of	receipt	will	be	taken	to	be	the	time	(as	determined	by	the	
timestamp	applied	to	the	message	by	the	CREST	Applications	Host)	at which the Company’s agent is able to retrieve the message 
by enquiry to CREST in the manner prescribed.

4. A corporation must execute the proxy under its common seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised.

5.  If this proxy form is executed under a power of attorney or other authority, such power of attorney or other authority or a 
notarially certified copy thereof must be lodged with the Registrars with the proxy form.

6.  In the case of joint holders, the vote of the senior shall be accepted to the exclusion of the other joint holders, seniority being 
determined by the order in which the names stand in the register in respect of the joint holding.
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